Link back to USGS publications





Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations of the United States Geological Survey

Chapter A13

COMPUTATION OF CONTINUOUS RECORDS OF STREAMFLOW

By E. J. Kennedy



Book 3

APPLICATIONS OF HYDRAULICS

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR DONALD PAUL HODEL, Secretary

U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY Dallas L. Peck, Director



First printing 1983 Second printing 1989

UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE : 1983

For sale by the Books and Open-File Reports Section U.S. Geological Survey Federal Center, Box 25425 Denver, CO 80225

PREFACE

The series of manuals on techniques describes procedures for planning and executing specialized work in water-resources investigations. The material is grouped under major subject headings called "Books" and further subdivided into sections and chapters. Section A of Book 3 is on surface water.

The unit of publication, the Chapter, is limited to a narrow field of subject matter. This format permits flexibility in revision and publication as the need arises. Chapter A13 deals with the computation of continuous records of streamflow.

Provisional drafts of chapters are distributed to field offices of the U.S. Geological Survey for their use. These drafts are subject to revision because of experience in use or because of advancement in knowledge, techniques, or equipment. After the technique described in a chapter is sufficiently developed, the chapter is published and is for sale by the U.S. Geological Survey Books and Open-File Reports Section, Federal Center, Box 25425, Denver, CO 80225 (authorized agent of Superintendent of Documents, Government Printing Office).

Reference to trade names, commercial products, manufacturers, or distributors in this manual constitutes neither endorsement by the Geological Survey nor recommendation for use.

ш

TECHNIQUES OF WATER-RESOURCES INVESTIGATIONS OF THE UNITED STATES GEOLOGICAL SURVEY

The U.S. Geological Survey publishes a series of manuals describing procedures for planning and conducting specialized work in water-resources investigations. The manuals published to date are listed below and may be ordered by mail from the U.S. Geological Survey, Books and Open-File Reports, Federal Center, Box 25425, Denver, Colorado 80225 (an authorized agent of the Superintendent of Documents, Government Printing Office).

Prepayment is required. Remittance should be sent by check or money order payable to U.S. Geological Survey. Prices are not included in the listing below as they are subject to change. Current prices can be obtained by writing to the USGS, Books and Open File Reports. Prices include cost of domestic surface transportation. For transmittal outside the U.S.A. (except to Canada and Mexico) a surcharge of 25 percent of the net bill should be included to cover surface transportation. When ordering any of these publications, please give the title, book number, chapter number, and "U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations."

- TWI 1-D1. Water temperature—influential factors, field measurement, and data presentation, by H.H. Stevens, Jr., J.F. Ficke, and G.F. Smoot. 1975. 65 pages.
- TWI 1-D2. Guidelines for collection and field analysis of ground-water samples for selected unstable constituents, by W.W. Wood. 1976. 24 pages.
- TWI 2-D1. Application of surface geophysics to ground water investigations, by A.A.R. Zohdy, G.P. Eaton, and D.R. Mabey. 1974. 116 pages.
- TWI 2-D2. Application of seismic-refraction techniques to hydrologic studies, by F.P. Haeni. 1988. 86 p.
- TWI 2-E1. Application of borehole geophysics to water- resources investigations, by W.S. Keys and L.M. MacCary. 1971. 126 pages.
- TWI 3-A1. General field and office procedures for indirect discharge measurement, by M.A. Benson and Tate Dalrymple. 1967. 30 pages.
- TWI 3-A2. Measurement of peak discharge by the slope-area method, by Tate Dalrymple and M.A. Benson. 1967. 12 pages.
- TWI 3-A3. Measurement of peak discharge at culverts by indirect methods, by G.L. Bodhaine. 1968. 60 pages.
- TWI 3-A4. Measurement of peak discharge at width contractions by indirect methods, by H.F. Matthai. 1967. 44 pages.
- TWI 3-A5. Measurement of peak discharge at dams by indirect methods, by Harry Hulsing. 1967. 29 pages.
- TWI 3-A6. General procedure for gaging streams, by R.W. Carter and Jacob Davidian. 1968. 13 pages.
- TWI 3-A7. Stage measurements at gaging stations, by T.J. Buchanan and W.P. Somers. 1968. 28 pages.
- TWI 3-A8. Discharge measurements at gaging stations, by T.J. Buchanan and W.P. Somers. 1969. 65 pages.
- TWI 3-A9. Measurement of time of travel and dispersion in streams by dye tracing, by E.F. Hubbard, F.A. Kilpatrick, L.A. Martens, and J.F. Wilson, Jr. 1982. 44 pages.
- TWI 3-A10. Discharge ratings at gaging stations, by E.J. Kennedy. 1984. 59 pages.
- TWI 3-A11. Measurement of discharge by moving-boat method, by G.F. Smoot and C.C. Novak. 1969. 22 pages.
- TWI 3-A12. Fluorometric procedures for dye tracing, Revised, by James F. Wilson, Jr., Ernest D. Cobb, and Frederick A. Kilpatrick. 1986. 41 pages.
- TWI 3-A13. Computation of continuous records of streamflow, by Edward J. Kennedy. 1983. 53 pages.
- TWI 3-A14. Use of flumes in measuring discharge, by F.A. Kilpatrick, and V.R. Schneider. 1983. 46 pages.
- TWI 3-A15. Computation of water-surface profiles in open channels, by Jacob Davidian. 1984. 48 pages.
- TWI 3-A16. Measurement of discharge using tracers, by F.A. Kilpatrick and E.D. Cobb. 1985. 52 pages.
- TWI 3-A17. Acoustic velocity meter systems, by Antonius Laenen. 1985. 38 pages.
- TWI 3-B1. Aquifer-test design, observation, and data analysis, by R.W. Stallman. 1971. 26 pages.
- TWI 3-B2.1 Introduction to ground-water hydraulics, a programmed text for self-instruction, by G.D. Bennett. 1976. 172 pages.
- TWI 3-B3. Type curves for selected problems of flow to wells in confined aquifers, by J.E. Reed. 1980. 106 pages.
- TWI 3-B5. Definition of boundary and initial conditions in the analysis of saturated ground-water flow systems—an introduction, by O. Lehn Franke, Thomas E. Reilly, and Gordon D. Bennett. 1987. 15 pages.
- TWI 3-B6. The principle of superposition and its application in ground-water hydraulics, by Thomas E. Reilly, O. Lehn Franke, and Gordon D. Bennett. 1987. 28 pages.
- TWI 3-C1. Fluvial sediment concepts, by H.P. Guy. 1970. 55 pages.
- TWI 3-C2. Field methods of measurement of fluvial sediment, by H.P. Guy and V.W. Norman. 1970. 59 pages.
- TWI 3-C3. Computation of fluvial-sediment discharge, by George Porterfield. 1972. 66 pages.
- TWI 4-A1. Some statistical tools in hydrology, by H.C. Riggs. 1968. 39 pages.
- TWI 4-A2. Frequency curves, by H.C. Riggs, 1968. 15 pages.
- TWI 4-B1. Low-flow investigations, by H.C. Riggs. 1972. 18 pages.
- TWI 4-B2. Storage analyses for water supply, by H.C. Riggs and C.H. Hardison. 1973. 20 pages.
- TWI 4-B3. Regional analyses of streamflow characteristics, by H.C. Riggs. 1973. 15 pages.
- TWI 4-D1. Computation of rate and volume of stream depletion by wells, by C.T. Jenkins. 1970. 17 pages.
- TWI 5-A1. Methods for determination of inorganic substances in water and fluvial sediments, by M.W. Skougstad and others, editors. 1979. 626 pages.

¹Spanish translation also available.

TWI 5-A2. Determination of minor elements in water by emission spectroscopy, by P.R. Barnett and E.C. Mallory, Jr. 1971. 31 pages.

TWI 5-A3. Methods for the determination of organic substances in water and fluvial sediments, edited by R.L. Wershaw, M.J. Fishman, R.R. Grabbe, and L.E. Lowe. 1987. 80 pages. This manual is a revision of "Methods for Analysis of Organic Substances in Water" by Donald F. Goerlitz and Eugene Brown, Book 5, Chapter A3, published in 1972.

TWI 5-A4. Methods for collection and analysis of aquatic biological and microbiological samples, edited by P.E. Greeson, T.A. Ehlke, G.A. Irwin, B.W. Lium, and K.V. Slack. 1977. 332 pages.

TWI 5-A5. Methods for determination of radioactive substances in water and fluvial sediments, by L.L. Thatcher, V.J. Janzer, and K.W. Edwards. 1977. 95 pages.

TWI 5-A6. Quality assurance practices for the chemical and biological analyses of water and fluvial sediments, by L.C. Friedman and D.E. Erdmann. 1982. 181 pages.

TWI 5-C1. Laboratory theory and methods for sediment analysis, by H.P. Guy. 1969. 58 pages.

TWI 6-A1. A modular three-dimensional finite-difference ground-water flow model, by Michael G. McDonald and Arlen W. Harbaugh. 1988. 586 pages.

TWI 7-C1. Finite difference model for aquifer simulation in two dimensions with results of numerical experiments, by P.C. Trescott, G.F. Pinder, and S.P. Larson. 1976. 116 pages.

TWI 7-C2. Computer model of two-dimensional solute transport and dispersion in ground water, by L.F. Konikow and J.D. Bredehoeft. 1978. 90 pages.

TWI 7-C3. A model for simulation of flow in singular and interconnected channels, by R.W. Schaffranek, R.A. Baltzer, and D.E. Goldberg. 1981. 110 pages.

v

TWI 8-A1. Methods of measuring water levels in deep wells, by M.S. Garber and F.C. Koopman. 1968. 23 pages.

- TWI 8-A2. Installation and service manual for U.S. Geological Survey monometers, by J.D. Craig. 1983. 57 pages.
- TWI 8-B2. Calibration and maintenance of vertical-axis type current meters, by G.F. Smoot and C.E. Novak. 1968. 15 pages.

CONTENTS

Page

Abstract	1
Introduction	1
Field data requirements	2
Field station description	2
Gaging-station levels	6
Discharge measurements	6
Gage-height record	7
Datum and gage-height corrections	8
List of discharge measurements	12
Discharge ratings	14
Work curve sheets	14
Rating tables	16
Percent differences and shift adjustments	17
Master curve sheets	20
Manual computation of gage-height record	20
Graphic recorders	22
Dating recorder charts	22
Pen corrections for time	22
Pen corrections for gage height	22
Computing mean daily gage heights	23
Allowable range in stage	24
Subdivided days	24
Mean interval subdivision	25
Midinterval subdivision	26
Gage-height record checking	28
Notes for station analysis	28

`

Manual computation of gage-height record—Continued
Nonrecording gages 29
Computing daily mean gage heights 29
Copying gage heights on form 9-192a 30
Computation of discharge record 30
Distribution of shift adjustments 33
Shift adjustment variation diagrams 33
Shift adjustments varied with time only 34
Shift adjustments varied with stage only 34
Shift adjustments varied with time and stage 36
ADP procedure 37
Manual procedure 39
Records from digital recorders 40
Primary computation 40
Notes for station analysis 42
Updating 42
Records from graphic recorders 44
Records from nonrecording gages 44
Discharge hydrographs 45
Periods of no gage-height record 45
Periods of ice effect 45
Station analysis 45
Progress documentation 47
Quality assurance 50
References cited 51
Glossary 52

FIGURES

ł

Page

Page

1.	Outline of a field-station description	3
2.	Sample field-station description	4
3.	Gaging-station-level notes	7
4.	Gaging-station-level summary	8
5.	Digital-recorder tape	9
6.	Part of graphic-recorder chart	9
7.	Page of nonrecording-gage observer's book	10
8.	List of gage-height corrections	11
9.	Graph of gage-height corrections	12
10.	List of discharge measurements	13
11.	Logarithmic work-curve sheet	16
12.	Automatically prepared rating tables (RATLIST)	18
13.	Master curve sheet	21
14.	Interpolation of pen corrections from graph plotted on recorder chart	23
15.	Gage height and discharge computations on graphic-recorder chart	24
16.	Rating table corresponding to figure 17 allowable-range table	26

VII

	Page
17. Derivation of an allowable-range table	27
18. Computed page of nonrecording-gage observer's book	29
19. Template for shaping nonrecording-gage graphs	30
20. Computed nonrecording-gage graph	31
21. Computed form 9-192a	32
22. Time-shift-variation diagram with corresponding hydrograph	34
23. Effect of varous stage-shift-variation diagram shapes on shift-curve shape	35
24. Plotting positions of stage-shift-variation diagram points on the shift curve	36
25. Development of a stage-shift-variation diagram	37
26. Development of a time-varied stage-shift diagram	38
27. Use of stage-shift-variation diagram coefficients to fit shift curves to discharge measurements	ure-
ments	41
28. Primary computation sheet	42
29. Final discharge record printout	43
30. Semilogarithmic hydrograph	46
31. Rectangular hydrograph and weather-record plot	48
32. Station analysis	49
33. Typical progress form	50
34. Basin comparison of monthly and annual runoff	51

COMPUTATION OF CONTINUOUS RECORDS OF STREAMFLOW

By E. J. Kennedy

Abstract

Records of continuous streamflow, published in the U.S. Geological Survey annual Water Data Reports for the States and territories, are computed from field data, mainly discharge measurements and recorder charts or tapes. This manual describes the computation procedures used and some details of related field operations. It was compiled mostly from unpublished Water Resource Division district manuals edited and supplemented to emphasize digitalrecorder and associated computer use. Methods used primarily for graphic-recorder gaging stations and nonrecording gages are also included. Reference is made to other publications for some of the more specialized or unusually complex procedures.

Introduction

Records of continuous streamflow in the U.S. Geological Survey annual Water Data Reports for the States and territories, which are also stored in various computer formats, are computed from field data, mainly dischargemeasurement notes and water-stage recorder tapes or charts. This manual, in the Techniques of Water Resources Investigation (TWRI) series, describes the most commonly used computation processes. A published continuousstreamflow record consists of two parts: (1) the manuscript station description which contains statements concerning the location of the gaging station, drainage area, records available, gage details, average discharge, summary of revisions, extremes of stage and discharge, and a description of any abnormal conditions and (2) a table of daily discharges with monthly and annual statistics. Only the procedures used to compute the daily-discharge table, minimum flow, and peaks are covered herein.

The streamflow-record processing methods described in this manual have evolved under USGS leadership during the last century from a variety of methods described by Follansbee (1938) and used by a few pioneer hydrographers throughout the Western World prior to 1890. A USGS camp was established at Embudo. N. Mex., in 1889 to investigate, modify, and standardize stream-gaging methods. The Embudo work was the foundation for the present systematic stream gaging in the United States. Refinements have been added over the years as high-water measuring equipment and reliable water-stage recorders have become available. and automatic data processing (ADP) has been adapted to hydrography. Standard forms for listing and plotting the data were adapted, and general instructions for record computation were circulated. This material, combined with procedures best suited to local conditions, was described in handbooks prepared and periodically updated by several USGS districts. Selected portions of the district handbooks and other unpublished material, edited and supplemented for broader application, comprise much of this manual. All of the processes described are typical of the state-of-the-art in 1982 but may require modification to fit local conditions. Reasonable standardization of processes is recommended, but innovation and the development of improved processes are strongly encouraged.

The procedures outlined in this manual apply to field data collected by using the methods described in the other TWRI manuals in Book 3, listed at the front of this manual, and in Water-Supply Paper 2175 (Rantz and others, 1982). Hydrographers must be familiar with at least

1

the parts of these publications and the National Water Data Storage and Retrieval System (WATSTORE) manuals (WATSTORE User's Guide volumes 1 and 5) that apply to any streamflow records they are computing. A programmable calculator is particularly useful for many of the computations involved.

The field data used to compute a station record are (1) an up-to-date field-station description giving the site details; (2) a summary of the results of all gage-checking levels that have been run at the site; (3) a list of all discharge measurements that have been made at the site; (4) the field notes describing channel conditions during the current period; and (5) the waterstage-recorder charts, punched-paper tapes, or gage observer's readings and notes for the current period. Weather records and records for nearby gaging stations are also used for most discharge records.

Record computation is usually done in eight basic steps in sequence: (1) determining the datum and gage-height corrections that apply to gage readings; (2) listing the current discharge measurements and plotting them along with relevant past measurements on an appropriate rating curve sheet; (3) developing the discharge rating; (4) computing the daily mean gage heights; (5) computing the discharge figures from the daily mean gage heights by using the discharge rating (in two steps, a primary computation and an update, for digitalrecorder stations); (6) estimating the daily discharges for periods of inapplicable or missing gage-height record; (7) preparing a narrative description of the computations (station analysis); and (8) carrying out procedures to assure quality control of the records. The use of this sequence of steps prevents a revision to the work by the checker in any step from affecting the previous work.

The quality of a streamflow record at a given site and its ease of computation are closely related to the skill exercised in the fieldwork. This skill is greatly enhanced when the hydrographer has parallel office computation and field experience and by formal training and career development programs. Most record-collection work is done according to a management plan set by each district, by personnel assigned to a data-collection unit. The unit is usually directed

by a hydrographer supervisor whose duties may include the scheduling of fieldwork and office work, post-field-trip debriefings for the continuous evaluation of field data, the supervision of the computation of records, career development including both on-the-job and formal training of the staff, and an annual inspection of each gaging station. Most Geological Survey offices have access to the central computer facility through a local terminal and the WATSTORE system. A growing number (in 1982) of offices also have minicomputers used to process the digital-recorder tapes, and the details of some of their procedures differ from those described in this manual. A data-collection unit's work often includes some collateral data-collection duties involving ground water, sediment, and the chemical and bacteriological quality of the streamflow; and its staff may be augmented during flood periods by personnel from other organizational units.

Field Data Requirements

The field station description contains information needed to help shape the ratings, rank major floods, investigate abnormalities in the record, and write the manuscript station description. Leveling is used to monitor gagedatum changes and to compute corrections to the gage readings. Discharge measurements are used to define the discharge rating and shift adjustments. The gage-height record, with the discharge rating and shift adjustments, is used to compute the daily discharges and peak flows.

Field-station description

Prepare a description on standard form 9–197 as soon as the gaging station is established. Use the outline and headings given in figure 1. Keep the description up to date with "pen-and-ink" changes until it becomes cluttered and must be rewritten. File superseded field descriptions for future reference. Figure 2 illustrates the recommended format for a typical description of an ordinary gaging station. Location.--Lat-long.; land-line location (public-land surveyed states); county; distance from bridges, dams, falls, highways, tributaries, towns, etc.; and river mile or distance from mouth. How reached. Give highway routes and road logs for normal and high water access. Same information for slope station auxiliary gage.

Establishment.--Date of first record published by U.S.G.S. that is equivalent to present record, and the name of the organization that installed the gage.

Drainage area.--Size of total area, size and type of noncontributing area, source of figures, method of computation, coordination information, and name of coordinating agency

<u>Gage</u>.--Decription, manufacturer and type of recorder, gage heights of components (intakes, doorsills, maximum recordable stage, shelter roof, etc.), principal gage, reference gage, description and location of outside gage and other supplementary gages, unusual features of equipment, elevation (or altitude) of gage datum above N.G.V. Datum. Same information for a slope-station auxiliary gage.

<u>History</u>.--Brief descriptions, in chronological order by date of start of record collection, of all gages with equivalent records operated at or near the site. Include major additions or changes to the equipment.

Reference and benchmarks.--Include at least three and no more than five RM's for a base gage, no more than three for a slope-station auxiliary gage, and one for a supplementary site. Describe RM and its location fully. Show latest elevation above gage datum at the time the description is prepared and note the most permanent mark. Name and number of NGS or U.S.G.S. benchmark used for N.G.V.D. tie, its latest published or listed elevation above N.G.V.D., the adjustment or datum date, and its elevation above gage datum.

<u>Channel and control</u>.--Character (rock, sand, gravel, clean, vegetation prone, permanent, shifting, etc.) and alignment of channel in the gage vicinity, character of banks and stage when overflow starts on each bank, extent of overflow at a specific high stage for each bank, the character of the flood plain, and number of channels at high and low stage.

Character, type, and location of low-water and high-water controls, sensitivity to ice effect, permanency, and any special conditions.



Discharge measurements.--Location, maximum depth (gage height + _____ft), and velocities at the best wading sections and the high-water measuring sections. Measuring conditions, anticipated accuracy, and special hazards. Location of culverts or bypass sections not evident during floods. Stage of the start of road overflow in the measuring section. Alternate high-water measuring sites, stored boats or equipment, special measuring problems or methods. For cableways; safety precautions, location, type and height of A-frames or towers, size of anchorages, length, diameter and type of cable, type of connectors (sockets, clips, etc.), unloaded sag, sag marks on A-frames, stationing, and initial point. For bridges; safety precautions, bridge occupancy limitations by police or highway officials, location, stationing details, horizontal angle coefficients. For boat ranges; safety precautions, width, permanent alignment or triangulation targets, availability of boats, etc.

Give the locations of any sites that have been used for slope-area, contracted-opening, or other indirect measurements or of sites that appear promising for the purpose.

<u>Floods.</u>--Narration of historic data search, (date, name of investigator, names of sources of information, nature of information, authority of informant, etc.). Interpretation of information. Include all historic floods, but only the notable ones within the period of station operation.

Point of zero flow.--Location, gage height, probable accuracy, permanency. Recommend frequency of observations.

Winter flow --Ice effect likely to be more severe or less than at other stations in the area. Why?

Regulation and diversion.--Location, description, and probable effect of dams, lakes, power plants, reservoirs, swamps, unusual land use, above or just below the station. If the station is one of several on a regulated stream, refer to the next gage upstream and describe in detail only those regulations and diversions between the gages.

Accuracy. -- Anticipated accuracy, with all equipment working, for the different seasons and ranges of flow.

Cooperation.--Each agency involved, the proportion of its support (financial and technical), and the dates.

<u>Sketch</u>.--Page size sheet with enough detail to enable one unfamiliar with the locality to reach the station, park a vehicle, and locate principal features with minimum effort. Include gage, measuring sections, and any paths or trails used to reach them. An additional large scale sketch may be needed to illustrate an obscure site.

<u>Photographs.</u>--File with photographs of principal features (close view of gage and shelter, general view showing control, measuring equipment, etc., and stereo slides of the channel).

Observer.--Name, address, phone number, occupation, place where usually contacted during the day, gage duties, and rate of pay.

FIGURE 1.—Outline of a field-station description.

Description of Gaging Station on Mud Creek at Crisfleld, Tilinois

<u>location</u>.--lat 39057'06'', long 89°23'19'', in NF 1/4 NF 1/4 sec. 8, T. 17N., R. 3W., Logan County, Hydrologic Unit 0/130009, on left bank at downstream side of county highway bridge, 0.6 mi (1.0 km) south of Cisffeld 2.6 mi (4.2 km) north of Caulfield, 6 mi (10 km) downstream from Jacks Fork, and 12 mi (12 mi upstream from mouth.

The station can he reached from Crisfield at low water by driving 0.6 mf south from the courthouse. When the road is fuundated during floods, the station can be reached at all stages by driving north 2.6 mf from the stations of State Mighway 54 and the county road (Fin Street) in Caulifield. There is an off-the-road parking space at the gage shelter.

Establishment.---Tanuary 15, 1970, by Corps of Fngineers, U.S. Army, Rock Island District. Drainage area.--58.7 ml² (145.5 km²) measured by 11SCS on 7 1/2' USCS topo-graphic quadrangle sheets by FIABRC methods and accepted by the official coordinating agency (Corps of Engineers, Chicago Division) for inclusion in their published list of drainage areas.

Gage.--Fisher-Porter digital recorder (SN 17531, W 86429), principal gage, set to agree with an electric tape gage in a 5'-4" square concrete block house and well connected to the stream by a single 2.1/2" intrafe equipped with standard 3-way steam cock flushing system with hand pump (3" x 10" cylinder) and static tube. Two outside staff sections are attached to the intake headwall (3.4 to 6.65 ft) and to the face of the well (6.66 to 2.7.0" ft). A Type-A wire-weight gage which usually reads from 0.02 ft (at 3.4 ft stage) no.10 ft (at 17 ft stage) higher than fuside stage is mounted on the downstream handrall of the hridge. The station is equipped with a BUT (SN 18216, WR6430) and a telephone (317-2264). To phone from the gage house, remove receiver and lift white plunger under the receiver hefore dialing. For telephone repairs and trouble shooting, call phone company - Mr. A. G. Hortz (Caulifield) 317-8120.

Pertinent elevation of gage features:

-1.05 ft	1.09 ft	1.n2 ft	9.27 ft	26.69 ft	28.75	29.19	33.90
Floor of well	Intake at well	Intake at outer end	Cleanout doorsill	Floor of shelter	Maximum recordable stage	Top of instrument shelf	Top of roof (peak)

The datum of the gage is 575.18 ft above N.G.V.D. of 1929.

Sheet 1 of 5

<u>History</u>.--The gage was established using the present wire-weight gage, read twice daily by a local resident (C. M. Rouse) and operated by Rock Island District Corps personnel until it was taken over by 1055 on July 1, 1972. The present recording gage was started in use on October 22, 1972. The cableway was complished in June 1974. No other gages have been operated

on this stream. Reference and hench marks.--RM-1 is a USGS gaging station tablet set in the top of the left upstream bridge wingwall. Flewation is 17.256 ft above

cop of the left upstream bringe wingwall. Flevation is 17.270 it above gage datum.

RM-2 is a chiseled square in the top of the right upstream bridge wingwall. Flevation is 17.078 ft above gage datum.

RW-3 is a HISCS gaging station tablet set in rock on left bank 53 ft downstream from well and 6 ft shoreward from low water edge. Flevation is 2.645 ft above gage datum.

RP-1 is the top of a 1/2" bolt set in the edge of the instrument shelf. Flevation is 21.190 ft above gage datum. Permanent turning points (tops of 3/8" lag screw heads) are set, one in each outside staff backing, to aid in checking the accuracy of gage plate settings. A steel tape attached to the backing and adjusted for the best average agreement throughout the range of the gage plates, reads 4/408 ft at the lower TP (on sec. 0-6.77). The upper TP (sect. 6.75-27.0) reads 13.972 ft on a similarly synchronized tape. NGS RM K-54, described in NGS 11st, is .5 mile north of the gage, $46.30~\rm{ft}$ above gage datum, and $621.42~\rm{ft}$ above NGVD of 1929.

- Channel and control.--The channel is straight near the gage and its bed is gravel and loose rock which is clean except for aqueous growth during the war months. The hanks are wooded. The channel is reasonahly permanent but is changed by major flouds. Right hank werflow starts at 12 ft and extends about 400 ft over cultivated land at 20 ft. Left hank overflow estends about 100 ft throwgh wooded land at 20 ft. control for low ware is a rocky gravel riffle 50 ft downsteam from the gage. The control shifts during minor rises and tends to collect leaves and debris. Grass and other aqueous growth also causes shifting. Flow is spells during low-flow periods.
- <u>Discharge measurements</u>.--Discharge less than about 700 cfs is usually measured by waifing between the gage and control where maximum depth is about 0.2 ft less than the stage. Higher measurements for stages blow 5 ft can be measured at the bridge hoth of whose handralls are marked in 5 ft intervals from the face of the left abutment and where the maximum depth is equal to stage. Higher measurements are made from the left A frame and which is marked in 5 ft intervals from the left A frame and where main under in and 100 lb. weight are stored in a steel box at the base of the puller, and 100 lb. weight are stored in a steel box at the base of the by waiting.

FIGURE 2.—Sample field-station description.



The cahleway is articulated and has a 10 ft frame on the left bank and a 14 ft frame on the right bank. The main cable is l-inch tramway steel, 320 ft long hetween sockets. Backstays are 11/4-inch diameter. All connections are factory-installed sockets. Unloaded reaction sag is 3.2 ft. A red horizontal stripe on each frame is 3.2 ft below the pin to provide a check on unloaded sag. The car is a standup type kept locked on the fit bank. Both A-frames are fenced. All components are standard USCS design.

A constricted reach of channel with minor overflow areas about 0.3 mi downstream is a good site for slope-area measurements. Floods.--On October 12, 1972, Paul James interviewed C. M. Rouse, local refident, who has lived at the site since, 1914 and whose family's knowledge of the area extends back to the settlement of the valiey in 1835. Mr. Rouse pointed out the foundation of the original family residence, 114 mi downstream from the gage, that had a foot of water over the first filtent during a flood in the sumer of 1886. The 1886 flood was the hikhest one known to Mr. Rouse since his family settled in the area. The 1886 flood height was 28.5 ft above the water surface elevation on October 12, 1942 (1:55 ft at the gage) or about 30 ft stage at the gage site. The stream was about 3 ft over the floor of the bridge in May 1943, according to Mr. Rouse, a stage of about 27 ft, the only other major flood mentioned in local lore.

Paul James also checked the Crisfield Clarion, a weekly county paper started in 1906. News items described the flood of May 22, 1943, which washed out parts of the Crisfield-Caulfield County road, as "the highest since the big flood of August 1886" on local streams. The above information was interpreted as follows: The flood of August 1935 reached a stage of about 30 ft, the highest known since at least 1835. The second highest known flood reached a stage of about 27 ft on May 22, 1943.

- Point of zero flow.--The gage height of zero flow was 1.21 ± .04 ft on March 31, 1979. The point of zero flow moves when the control is scoured or filled by rises or ice movement. Its gage height should be measured at the time of each low-water wading measurement.
- Winter flow.---Ice effect is likely to be less severe at this site than on other streams in the locality because of the swift current over the control.
- Regulation and diversion.--Extreme low flow is affected occasionally by improvised and unrecorded temporary dams that form pools for pump intakes used for supplemental irrigation during droughts. About 30 stock ponds on tributates also affect low flows. No permanent mainstream dams exist or are planned.
- Accuracy.--Records for flow greater than 100 cfs should be excellent. Those for discharge less than 10 cfs should be fair. Other records should be good.

Sheet 3 of 5

Sheet 4 of 5

FIGURE 2.—Sample field-station description—Continued.

- Cooperation.--The first 2 1/7 years' operation was hy the Corps of Engineers who collected and furnished the record. The USGS-Corps collaborative program paid for the gage construction and operation until June 30, 1976. The USGS-IIIInois Water Survey Mivision cooperative program supported all operations after July 1, 1976.
- Observer.--Octoher 22, 1972 to November 30, 1976, C. M. Rouse, Star Route 17, Crisfield, 111inots, inspected the gage weekly for S10 per month. Mr. Rouse, farmer, lives in the house just south of the gage and can usually be contacted at home.



FIGURE 2.—Sample field-station description—Continued.

Gaging-station levels

A gage-supporting structure, such as a well. may settle causing the gage to read too high; or the structure may be lifted by frozen ground making the gage read too low. These and other types of gage errors may accumulate over several years and, if neglected, affect the ratings or distort the relative heights of recorded floods. The errors can be measured by running periodic gaging-station levels, with standard surveying methods and equipment, between the gage and reference marks on stable ground. Gages can be reset, or their readings can be adjusted by applying corrections based on the levels. Levels are also used to measure the elevation of the gage datum above National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) where a bench mark is within a reasonable distance (usually a few miles). Levels to NGVD are particularly desirable when there is probable need for transfer of data by profile. Examples of probable needs include (1) evaluation of risk to

property in a flood-prone area; (2) design of nearby highways; and (3) development of basin models. Where levels are impractical, determine the approximate altitude of the gage from a map or with an aneroid barometer.

Gaging-station leveling is exacting work thoroughly described in the Manual for Leveling at Gaging Stations in North Carolina by Thomas and Jackson (1981), which covers scheduling of levels, precision, accuracy, instrument adjustment, adjustment of leveling errors, tabulation of results, and general concepts. Use that manual or a version of it modified to fit local conditions, for all gaging-station levels.

Manual for Leveling at Gaging Stations in North Carolina contains several examples of acceptable level-note format and tabulation of results. Figure 3 illustrates a format where the level notes are on the back side of a special form (fig. 3B) and the adjustments and results are on the front side (fig. 3A). A format similar to this is recommended, but the use of any logical and checkable method of keeping, adjusting, and listing notes is normally acceptable. The gagechecking levels are usually run to thousandths of a foot, and those for the NGVD tie are usually run to hundredths of a foot.

Tabulate the results of all complete gagingstation-level sets ever run at the site and also any partial gage checks made without levels and used to reset the principal gage. Use a format similar to that in figure 4 or the generally similar format illustrated in the Manual for Leveling at Gaging Stations in North Carolina. The tabulation is designed to be a concise history of all levels and changes to gages and will be the basis for computation of datum and gage height corrections as explained in a subsequent section of this manual. The tabulation, once prepared, is updated each year by the addition of the results of any gage-checking activities. The tabulation should be checked before it is used.

Discharge measurements

Discharge-measurement notes, ordinarily computed at the gaging-station site, require some checking before the results can be listed and used to develop the discharge rating.

UNITED STATES
DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
GEOLOGICAL SURVEY
NATE BEAM AND AND AND AND

STATION Mud Creek at Crisfield, 111

Α

DAT	E	Nov 6	19	80	PA	RTY	8	9	Jone	2 7	<u>, R 5</u>	ÇĮ	ine
	_			ELEVA	TIC	ONS	OF	P	DINTS				
Object	.	lst	r	2nd		3rd			4th	A	ver	Е	levation
RM-1	F			<u>.</u>	+	19111	<u> </u>		<u>Din.</u>	*		/	1.256
Ch bar	H	. 858	7	061	+—			-		-	860	/	9.116
RM.2	-	036		097			+			1	036	_,	7.080
RP-1	1-	7 225	4	2222	+						110	2	1.190
TP-1	H	1225		.223			-			-	224	1.	3.966
TP-2	Ľ	9467	7	462	9	46	<u>s</u>	_		_	466		4.500
RM-3	<u> </u>	1836	/	839	<u>+</u>			-		,	858	Ż	2.642
	-		—		┨──		- -						
	⊢			·	+		-+			-			
RM-1		0 4 6	7		 							/	7.26
BM-K54	⊢≤	706	2	.03	 					4.	.04	4	6.30
				·									
			-				l	-					
WI	₹E	WEIGH	<u>т (</u>	AGE	-	_	BUI	3 ŀ	SLER D	IAI	or FL	<u>.OA</u>	T TAPE
		Foun		- L-	211	_				1.	ound	+	Left
Ch Bar.El	ev.	19 11	6	19.1	16		<u>R, P</u> ,		Elev.	2	1.190	-+•	21.190
Ch Bar Rd	l	19.13	0	19.	116		Tap	e '	to W.S.	12	7.786	-	19.786
W.S Read	5	140	2	1	41		W.S.	1	Elev		404	-	1404
							Gag	e	Rdg		425	-	1.404
	_			1		_	Cor	r'	n	-	021		0
Section		,	_0	UTSID	ES	ТА	FF S	EC	TIONS	<u> </u>	1.00		
section		0 0 0		Foun	d	C.		-			D D D		Caral
		R.P EL	ev.	A P. A	eau		<u></u>		<u>п. р. с.</u>	ev.	K P.Re	au	Corrin
0.6.1	-	13.93	16	13.41		-	000						+ 4 4 7 2
6.0-27.0		4 30	0	4 4 7	8	7.	002	-	———			_	1.002
						┣		-				-	
·			-							·			
			_			<u>}</u>		-					
		L.,		L		L			L		L		I
Sheet 1 o	f _	L Com	p. 1	by B	R.	/	Chk		by R.	56	Date		11-6-80

n						
B	STATION	B. S.	HT. INST.	7. 8	ELEVA- TION	REMARKS
	RM-1	3.719	20.975		17.256	Goy sto marker
	Ch bar	2147	21261	1861	19.114	Rds 19 130
	RM-2	6.724	23.802	4 183	17.078	a on rt abut no
	RP-1	3 176	24 365	2.613	21.189	boit on shelf
	TP-1	1 709	15.673	10.401	13964	boit on sec 0-6.7
	TP-2	3.812	8 309	11.176	4.497	* " " 6.8-270
	<u>PM-3</u>	9 834	12.475	5.668	2.641	boit nr control
	TP-2	11-250	15 750	7.975	4.500	
	<u>TP-1</u>	10 254	24.216	1788	13.962	
	RP-1	2.956	24.141	3 03/	21.185	
	RM-2	4.252	21.327	7066	17075	
	Ch bar	2673	21.785	2.215	19.112	
	RM-1			4.534	17 251	
		Reru	n TP-I	to TP-	2	
	TP-1	1 437	15.401		13.964	
	TP-2			10.902	4.499	
		Ner	D Tre-1	n level	\$	
	RM-1	1086	1812		17.26	
	<u> TP-1</u>	9.24	35.79	1.57	26.55	
	2	11.54	\$4.47	2.86	32.93	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	3	7.26	48.59	3.14	41.33	
	4	6.58	50.25	4.92	4367	
		6.07	50.49	583	44.42	
4	<u>9M-254</u>	3.92	50.24	4.17	46.32	
		2.98	4701	621	44.03	
	7	,78	4265	514	41.87	
		315	43.65	2.15	40 50	
	7	2.7/	34 52	11.84	31.81	
	PM_1	1.02	2385	11.67	22.83	
	<u>x===</u>	<u> </u>		6.96	17.29	
					í I	

FIGURE 3.—Gaging-station-level notes.

Water Resources Division policy prior to 1961 called for complete checking of every computation in each discharge measurement. The policy was changed as a result of a study that showed selective checking to be adequate and much less time consuming than complete checking. The currently approved practice is to check every measurement for (1) agreement between the computed mean gage height and the corrected recorded gage height or, for nonrecording stations, the observer's readings; (2) correct addition of the partial widths and discharges and agreement of the total width with the stationing of the water's edges; (3) possible error wherever the partial discharge changes substantially without a corresponding change in width, depth, or velocity; and (4) consistent relation of inside mean gage heights to outside gage read-

ings. Check every computation in a discharge measurement that (1) varies from the rating defined by previous and subsequent measurements by more than 10 percent; (2) is the only measurement defining a substantial portion of a rating; (3) was computed by a hydrographer in the early stages of training; (4) was made during a noteworthy flood; or (5) is selected by the hydrographer in charge. Normally, less than 10 percent of the measurements for a station are completely checked.

Gage-height record

Assemble the gage-height record for the water year or other period for which the discharge record will be computed. The gageheight record, as brought in from the field, is a

_1 1			<u>г т т т т</u>	Refer	ence Mar	rks	Floa	t Tape (Gage	Wir	e-Weia	ht Gao	ρ	OG Rdg	. Corr
15447540	Date	Party Chief	1	2	3	*K-54	W.S. Elev. (levels)	Gage R Found	Left	Check Bar Elev.	Ch.Bar Found	.Rdg. Left	W.S. Rdg. as Left	3.4 to 6.6	6.7 to 27 0
File (9-12-76 10-30-76 4-12-78 8-02-78 11-06-80	Keller Stack Krank Krank Jones	17.256 17.256 17.256 17.256 17.256	17.078 17.076 17.080	2.645 2.647 2.642	46.30	1.262 1.318 1.214 1.404	1.403 1.216 1.425	1.262 1.318 1.216 1.404	19.12 19.118 19.119 19.119 19.116	19.12 19.14 19.12 19.13	19.12 19.12 19.12 19.12 19.12 19.12	1.46 1.28 1.34 1.23 1.41	0 01 01	0 +.02 0
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR SECLOSICAL SURVEY WATER RESOURCES SUNSION SKETCH FORM															
RM 9 - 213C Let. Nov. 69)	*ilGS bend	ch mark - 1	ine 27,	IL - E	lev. 62	1.482 ft	above i	IGVD of	1929						

RESULTS OF LEVELS



series of 16 channel punched-paper tapes (fig. 5), graphic-recorder charts (fig. 6), or the books containing the observer's original readings of a nonrecording gage (fig. 7). Other important parts of the gage-height record include the notes concerning gage repairs and resetting, and reports of contacts with the observers of nonrecording gages that give evaluations of their work. These notes are normally written in the spaces provided on the discharge-measurement front sheets. The data-collection unit supervisor usually scrutinizes the gage-height records and discusses them with the hydrographer during the post-field trip debriefing. The evaluation includes checking that the recorded peaks agree with high-water marks, that the timer operated continuously, that the outside-inside gage relation was normal, and that any doubtful looking record has been investigated and its appearance

Mud Creek at Crisfield II

was either satisfactorily explained or its cause was corrected. Compare the starting gage height of each tape or chart with the ending gage height of the preceding record and reconcile any differences before proceeding to the next step. At this stage of the processing, the gage-height record may require the application of certain corrections before it can be used to compute the discharge record.

Datum and Gage-Height Corrections

A correction applied to gage readings to compensate for the effect of settlement or uplift of the gage is usually measured by levels and is

COMPUTATION OF CONTINUOUS RECORDS OF STREAMFLOW

Scale reverses at upper and lower margins

stage

etc.) Falling i m

Ę

to 30-ft. travel

₩ ⁵ pen

Float-driven Ę, ≍

ŕ to 15-ft.

ť

5-Ft."

0- T6 5- to 1

stage stage Rising : Ē Ē

Noon

10

Ľ ł Peak stage

4

ŝ

2

Timer-driven paper travel

Midnight

June 1981

FIGURE 6.-Part of graphic-recorder chart.

HOOH

11

-Penⁱtrace



FIGURE 5.-Digital-recorder tape.



ŀ

¹Oil used as an antifreeze at gaging stations is limited by Section 311(b)(1) of Public Law 92-500 to those sites where there is no danger of the oil leaking into the stream system.

31		Con Natala	Mean G	ige Height	REMARKS
ste .	, me	Gage meight	Obe.	Cerr.*	Follow "Instructions for Gage Observer" in the front of this book
-	л. м. 6:40	2.68			
	р. м. 6:00	5.14			
pt3.	л.м. 7: 30	9.35			
	р. м. 7. 00	10.30			HWMK 10.3 (hand level) R.J.S.
68.	л.м. 1: 30	9.50	_		
	р. м. 7. 00	8.00			
-	л.м. 6.15	6.20			
	Р. М. 6:45	4.58			
W.	л.м. 6:45	3.64			
	Р. М. 6:30	3.13			
ri.	л.м. 6.30	2.77			
⁻	Р. М. 6:30	2.50			
4	л. м. 6:50	2.24			2.11 of 12:40 2.06 at 12:50 ofter debrig remove
	Р. М. 6:30	2.00			(SEND regular CARD today) R.3

FIGURE 7.-Page of nonrecording-gage observer's book.

by levels or based on comparison of the readings of different gages. All corrections to the gageheight record are called datum corrections in automatic data processing usage.

Bubble gages and certain wire-weight gages have individual calibration errors that vary with stage and in some cases with temperature. Analysis of these errors is complex and rarely worthwhile. If calibration errors are disregarded, the rating will ordinarily compensate for them with no consequential effect on the discharge record. However, calibration error corrections may be necessary if they apply to a slope-station record or a bubble gage on a stream with very high and variable sediment concentration.

Inside each gaging-station well, one of the gages, separate from the recorder and least

prone to accidental datum changes and often an electric-tape or inside-staff gage, is designated as the "reference gage." Its main purpose is to furnish occasional independent water-surface elevations to monitor the accuracy of the other inside gages. Another gage, preferably a recorder component such as the digital recorder dial or the perforated float tape that drives a graphic recorder is designated as the "principal gage." Principal gage readings determine the inside mean gage heights of the discharge measurements and are used to set the graphicrecorder pen. Bubble gage counters and the dials of digital recorders over small-diameter (3 to 6 in) wells are principal gages usually set to agree with an outside reference gage at low water when drawdown and calibraton errors are smallest. A slope station has a "base gage"

similar to an ordinary gaging station and generally one "auxiliary gage" some distance away.

The sum of the datum and gage-height corrections may be applied directly to the principal gage readings, disregarded, or, with extremely unstable ratings, absorbed into the shift adjustments (gage-height adjustments used to compensate for discharge rating shifts and described in detail later). The option used depends on the magnitude of the correction, the sensitivity and permanence of the rating, and whether the corresponding gage error occurred suddenly or gradually. Corrections as small as 0.01 ft are usually applied where the low-water control is a permanent weir and zero flow occurs. If the sum of datum and gage-height corrections during the year does not exceed 0.02 ft (and the principal gage was not reset, these corrections are usually disregarded.

Corrections that are applied to principal gage readings must agree with (1) the correction used for the last day of previously computed record; (2) the corrections printed on the current year's primary computation sheet; (3) gage checks by levels or by comparison of principal gage readings to other readings; and (4) notes concerning changes made to the principal gage setting. Maintain a chronological list of corrections applicable to the principal gage in the format of figure 8. After the end of the water year, this list will become a paragraph of the station anal-

vsis, a document described in a later section of this manual. A similar list of corrections for gages other than the principal gage (reference gage, outside gages, and so forth) is optional. If the corrections are complex, plot them in a format similar to that in figure 9 and prepare the list from the graph. The list must be kept in agreement with the last correction used for previously computed record. Primary computations of current records are normally rerun from the original tapes if the datum corrections are revised, so accept the previous corrections unless they are seriously in error. Be certain that the gage-height correction changes by the same amount that the principal gage was changed and that no change in stage caused by cleaning a control or intake is mistaken for a gage resetting. When the list of datum and gage-height corrections is final, apply the appropriate correction to every principal gage reading entered on a discharge-measurement front sheet, graphic-recorder chart, or nonrecording-gage observer's book. The WATSTORE User's Guide (vol. 5) includes instructions for making the corrections to digital recorder readings.

Pen corrections, to compensate for erroneous settings or lateral movement and expansion of the recorder paper, are computed on the graphic-recorder chart and are not otherwise documented. Graphic and digital recorders are

```
Datum and gage-height corrections.--Results of levels are summarized on an
attached sheet. Based on these levels, the datum correction used on
September 30, 1979, notes made when a surge chain at the recorder float
was straightened, and gage-height record evidence of the most likely
time that the surge chain became tangled, the following corrections
were applied to digital-recorder readings:
Oct. 1, 1979 (0000 hrs)
-.02 ft
```

	Nov	6	(1/20 1)	02 11	
	100.	0	(1430 hrs)		Levels-gage reset
	Dec.	11	(0330 hrs)	0	Surge - most likely time of tangle
	Jan.	3, 1980	(1415 hrs)	+.05	Surge chain untangled. Ght rose
	Sept.	30	(2400 hrs)		.05 ft.
No	corre	ctions wer	e applied	to other gages	·.



FIGURE 9.-Graph of gage-height corrections.

reset as necessary to compensate for the effect on the float when oil, used as an antifreeze, is added to or removed from the gage well. Oileffect variations, caused by evaporation or other loss of oil, are treated as pen corrections with graphic recorders but must be included in the datum corrections that are listed and applied to digital recorder readings.

List of Discharge Measurements

The tabulation illustrated by figure 10 (form 9-207) summarizes, in a convenient form, the data pertinent to the discharge measurements made at a gaging station. The following paragraphs outline the procedure for preparing the discharge measurements for listing.

The listing can be continuous from the first measurement made at the site, with each measurement listed only once. A space is left after the last measurement in each water year, and preferably each calendar year, to separate these periods. Listing by water-year sets, starting with the last measurement of the previous water year on the top line and including the first measurement of the next year, is also satisfactory. Newly available measurements are added to the list every time an additional period of record is computed.

Arrange all of the previously unlisted discharge-measurement notes and the hydrographer's observations of no flow for the current water year in chronological order. Check the gage-height record to make certain that all measurements are on hand and be sure that the indirect measurements are included. Inclusion of the first and last observer's no-flow observation during each continuous period of no flow is optional.

Make certain that all necessary checking or rechecking has been done. Indirect measurements must be reviewed by the appropriate specialist before the results may be used. Note in particular whether the mean or weightedmean gage height has been computed and checked for each measurement. Make sure that the measurement gage heights and the gageheight record have been based on the principal gage and that any necessary datum and gageheight corrections have been applied to both. When something was done by the hydrographer which caused the gage height to change, such as removal of debris from the control or cleaning of the intake pipes, list both gage heights and note the reason for the change under "Remarks."

Be certain that measurement gage heights and dates have been checked against the gageheight record and any discrepancies reconciled. Also, number the measurements consecutively in chronological order, including all field estimates (flow estimates made where conditions preclude standard discharge measurement techniques) and indirect measurements; observations of no flow are not numbered.

After completing the above, the measurements are listed on form 9-207. Listing not intended for typing should be done in black ink in a manner such that good, clear prints can be ob-

	Outs.	GZF	Time			Gage	Num- ber		8	Rating .			Masa					
REMARKS	Ght	or Suno	Temp	Meas. raued	Time	height change	meat. Mc-	Method	Percent diff.	Sheft adj	Discharge	height	velocity	Area	Wideh	Made by	Dete	Ne
	34011		0040		#	Feet				Fau	Ç6	Feel	Fµ-	54.5	Fail		1979	
Control clean	185	118	14.0	7	0 42	0	23	.6		- 04	7 05	1.84	.57	12.4	18 0	PT. Spalding	Sep. 25	31
	37		235			- 07	97		9		24.4	245	161	16.5	16.0	25 Sonds	Oct 23	31
Control Clean	2.47	13	12.0	G	.58	-02	22	. 69	7/5		26.6				, <u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	J.J Honay		
Control clean	1.74	1.20	2.8	F.	.42	0	24	.6	-15	-	4.62	173	.59	7.84	150	P.T.S.	Dec 4	33
Complete 160	ww.		820						.	10						076	1980	
cover	2.19		0	6	.33	0	21	6	-	-	631	215	5 0	10 5	170	P1.3.	Pon. B	34
HWMork en right bank 27.1 ft	-		-	F	-	-	4	3). Areq	0	_	8,760	26 60				<i>э.э.</i> н	Feb. 19	35
Control 20% Dioch	5.06	30=	1545	F	27	+07	23	2-8	-2.5	05	157	4.99	1.65	95.Z	26.0	R.55	Apr 1	36
Debris removed for Central Dreamed 4	2.12	1.25	1320 190	6	.50	0	20	6	8	- 05 -	13.1	2.11 206	.81	16.2	18.3	R. 5. 5.	May 9	37
Algae blocking 50%	st 1.35	116	0855 21.5	F	.17	0	6	.6		-01	. 26	135	43	56	4.5	P.T.S.	June 10	38
	s† 1.18										0	118				(A J Rouse) Observer	July G	
Heavy algae on bottom	st 1.10										0	110				P.T.5	July 22	
streembed dry	at .83										0	.83				Observer	Aug Z4	
Algae blocking 50% of control	st 2.04	1.2	0855)45	6	.42	0	24	.6	-	-04	11 2	203	.98	11.5	16.0	א.נ נ	Sept 2	39
															- Year	1981 Wate	inning	8e
Gross and leaves block 90% of costre	st 1.85	-	1550 11.5	G	.50	0	22	6		- 00	531	1.84	.64	8 35	16.0	H C Crone	Oct 14	40
Control clean	1.49	1.15	0840 6.0	G	.42	0	21	.6	+2.6	-	120	1.48	. 77	2.53	100	JJH	Nov 25	141

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR GEOLOGICAL SUBJECT WATER RESOURCES DIVISIONI

Station No.05447540

tained. The following steps are used to complete the form properly.

FORM 9-207 (Rev. 11-69)

Letter the exact name of the gaging station on the top line of each sheet used. Insert the gaging-station identification number in the space provided on each sheet.

List all measurements in chronological order, using one line for each measurement. Available measurements for the following year should be listed if they will be used in defining the current year's rating curve or shift adjustments.

Show the initials and last name of the hydrographer making the measurement the first time it appears on a page and use only the surname or initials wherever it appears again. Dittos may be used where appropriate in the "Made by" column. If more than one hydrographer was present, list the two most appropriate names.

List the water temperature in degrees Celsius and above it the "24-h" time.

If the measurement was made other than by

wading, note the method used and the size of sounding weight (if used) in the "Remarks" column. Use notations such as cable 100 lb, bridge 75 lb, boat 30 lb, or optical meter. Any unusual conditions that might have some effect upon the accuracy of the measurement or upon the stage-discharge relation should also be listed under "Remarks." Use numerical remarks such as "control cross section 40% blocked by grass" rather than the less specific "backwater from grass." Any changes made to the control or intake pipes that cause a sudden gage-height change and affect the continuity of the gageheight record must be noted. Brief notes on ice conditions should be included here. The gage height of zero flow (GZF), when determined, should be listed. For indirect measurements. show a gage-height determination from the flood profile or high-water marks, if available, in addition to those obtained from inside or outside gages. Additional columns appropriate to



FIGURE 10.—List of discharge measurements.

the station may be added to the form to show such data as gage height of zero flow, outside gage height, specific conductance, etc., provided that adequate space for the "Remarks" is left. The shift adjustment and percent difference columns are left blank until the rating has been completed.

The person listing the measurements places his initials and the date near the bottom of each sheet. Each item listed on the form must be checked, and the checker adds his initials and the date to each sheet.

For each gaging station, high-water measurements above a chosen base gage height may be recorded on a separate form 9-207 and carried forward from year to year to prevent any measurement from being overlooked in future ratings. Only the date, gage height, discharge, method, and accuracy need to be listed on the supplemental sheet.

Discharge Ratings

The development of the discharge rating is one of the principal tasks in computing a discharge record. The rating is usually the relation between gage height and discharge (simple rating). Ratings for some special sites involve additional factors such as rate of change in stage or fall in a slope reach (complex ratings). A ratings manual (Kennedy, 1982), is devoted entirely to discharge ratings, simple and complex. The ratings manual also covers such fundamental rating analysis techniques such as logarithmic plotting; constructing normal and offset logarithmic scales; relating logarithmic curve shape to the gage-height offset and to GZF; using shape curves; approximating logarithmic rating curves by straight-line segments; and using digital descriptors of logarithmic rating curves. This manual covers only the development of simple ratings for reasonably stable channels and does not repeat the explanations of the fundamentals or special applications explained in the ratings manual by Kennedy (1982).

A simple rating is developed by (1) plotting the relevant discharge measurements and a shape curve on a logarithmic work-curve sheet; (2) drawing the indicated rating curve; (3) approximating the curve with a series of straight lines and determining its digital descriptors (explained in more detail later); (4) preparing a rating table from the descriptors or using the descriptors in a programmable calculator to simulate a rating table; (5) computing the variations of the discharge measurements from the rating; (6) revising the rating descriptors to obtain a better balance of the discharge measurement variations; and (7) preparing a drafted master curve sheet.

Work-curve sheets

The actual development of the rating curve is normally done in pencil on a logarithmic sheet, preferably with enough cycles so that the rating curve can be one continuous line. This worksheet may be a print of the previous year's master sheet to eliminate some plotting or a fresh sheet prepared for the purpose with a different gage-height scale offset from the one on the master sheet. The choice depends on the difference between the effective GZF and the next higher foot, or possibly half-foot, and the sensitivity of the relation between the scale offset and the curvature of the rating. A plotted logarithmic rating whose lower part is curved may require a profusion of descriptors, and if it is even slightly concave upward, it will involve scalloping. The rating curvature of a logarithmic plot is controlled by varying the scale offset. The lower end of the rating curve is straight when the scale offset is the effective GZF, concave upward when the offset is smaller than GZF, and concave downward when the offset is larger than GZF. This effect is less pronounced as the stage increases, and changing the offset by a foot has a negligible effect on rating curvature at stages above about 3 ft over GZF. In general, a print of the previous master curve is a satisfactory worksheet if the current curve can be plotted on it in one continuous line, the scale offset agrees with the previous curve's offset descriptor value, and the new rating will be straight or slightly concave downward. Otherwise, use a fresh sheet.

Figure 11 illustrates a work-curve sheet prepared from a standard form 9-279M. The discharge scale is a "normal" log scale from 0.001 ft³/s (two additional cycles taped in place for the discharge range below 0.1 ft³/s are not shown on figure 11) to 10,000 ft³/s. The gageheight scale is offset by 1.2 ft, approximately the gage height of zero flow, and is convenient for plotting all gage heights below about 2.2 ft. The offset scale is too awkward for plotting higher values so they are adjusted by subtracting the scale offset from each gage-height value and can then be plotted using the "normal" log scale. Gage-height values picked off the normal scale must be increased by the offset value before use, an inconvenient procedure usually used only for worksheets.

Plot the last rating that was used for published record or the shape curve described in the rating manual on the worksheet. If a previous rating is used for the shape curve and its scaleoffset descriptor is not the same as the worksheet's scale offset, consider only the part above about 4 ft on the normal scale for merging with the new curve. Minor scale-offset differences in that range have a negligible effect on the discharge values interpolated between the rating's descriptors.

Plot all relevant discharge measurements. These include the current measurements not seriously affected by ice or debris, all recent low and medium measurements that apply to the current rating, and, if used, all of those on the special list of high-water current-meter and indirect measurements. If the measurement alignment indicates that more than one rating applies at high or medium stages, use colors to distinguish the measurements that apply to each rating. If more than one rating in the nearzero-flow range is needed and shifting-control method is impractical, use a supplemental worksheet for each rating whose GZF and scale offset differs from the others. Examine any measurements that appear to vary from the general trend for errors in discharge or gage-height computation or for gage malfunction.

Draw a smooth curve that best averages the applicable measurements. If the station is new and the shape curve is a synthetic rating (slopeconveyance, step-backwater, or similar), draw the new curve generally parallel to it. Make all breaks in the slope of the new curve at the same gage heights as the breaks in the shape curve. Draw the curve only as high as the maximum

recorded stage. If the shape curve is a previously used rating, merge the new curve with the shape curve at as low a gage height as the data and judgment permit. High-water ratings should include all relevant measurements, and once a high-water rating extension is made, it should be continued in use until strong supporting data indicates the need for a change. Then, the published records must be revised as necessary to reflect the revised extension. Rating extensions based only on a different hydrographer's opinion, especially extensions considered too weakly based to warrant revision of past records, should be avoided. Minor highwater extension revisions, such as the one illustrated in figure 11, require no revisions to past records. If the low-water measurements scatter due to varying amounts of aqueous growth or debris on the control, draw the curve to the right of the scatter and close to the measurements made while the control was clean. If measurement scatter reflects scour and fill at an unstable control, draw the curve near the middle of the scatter and close to measurements whose GZF is close to the scale offset used. If the lower part of the curve is concave upward, use a larger scale offset to straighten the curve or make it concave downward and avoid the scalloping described in the ratings manual. When the curve looks satisfactory, approximate it with a series of straight lines and pick off the digital descriptors (see the ratings manual). Fewer than 15 segments are adequate for most ratings, but as many as 29 can be used.

The rating is considered tentative until the percent differences and shift adjustments (discussed in greater detail later) are computed and found to be satisfactory. Graphical rating analysis, especially for high-slope rating parts, is subject to significant drafting errors. The graphically defined rating descriptors may need some adjustment to improve the balance of the percent differences. The percent differences can be computed from a rating table, described in the following section, or more conveniently by entering the descriptors in an appropriately programmed calculator. Then, the descriptors can be modified as necessary to make the rating final. The work-curve sheet is preserved for as long as it has use for future rating analysis, after which it may be discarded.



FIGURE 11.-Logarithmic work-curve sheet.

Rating tables

A rating table similar to the one in figure 12A (one-hundredth-foot expansion) or 12B (onetenth-foot expansion) can be prepared automatically from the descriptors by using the WATSTORE "RATLIST" (automatically prepared rating tables) program. The variety of RATLIST output formats and their input requirements are described in the WATSTORE User's Guide. (vol. 1). The rating table can also be prepared manually on a standard form 9-230 from the worksheet curve. This is a timeconsuming operation that produces a table with serious shortcomings for ADP use and is not normally recommended. Some programmable calculators can be programmed for logarithmic interpolation to serve as a substitute for a rating table. The necessary programs, on magnetic cards, for some handheld calculators can be obtained from USGS offices. The rating descriptors can be stored in the calculator, so

that entering a gage height or discharge causes the corresponding discharge or gage height to be displayed. Descriptors in the calculator storage can be changed at will until they are satisfactory for the final table.

Rating tables are numbered chronologically by dates of use. The approximate date of the change from one rating to another is usually apparent from the dates of measurements that define each rating, and the date of the event that most likely caused the change. If the shifting-control method is used, the starting date of a rating is not critical and sometimes it can be moved to a convenient date such as the start of a water year. Enter the appropriate starting and ending dates in the space provided on the rating tables. Use of the blanks on the rating table sheet to indicate the basis for the rating and its degree of definition is recommended for stable ratings used for a year or longer and is optional for unstable ratings.

The final rating table should be checked by



FIGURE 11.-Logarithmic work-curve sheet-Continued.

someone not involved in the original computation. Check to make certain that the correct descriptors, especially the offset, were used to prepare the table, that it covers the entire range of stage, and that the handwritten entries (dates of use, etc.) are correct and have also been entered on the previous rating table. The checker should always assure that older medium- and high-water discharge measurements are included in the rating analysis. Initials of the person doing the original computations and the checker must be shown with the dates of the work.

Percent differences and shift adjustments

At a stream-gaging station, a certain section below the gage controls the relation of gage height to discharge. This may be a rock riffle, a sand or gravel bar, a natural constricted section, a dam, weir, or flume, or it may be a stretch of the channel where the channel slope and friction of bed and banks are the controlling hydraulic parameters. When this section, called the control, is permanent or unchanging, there will normally be the same amount of water passing the gage for a given gage height. This seldom happens in nature. The sand bar, gravel bed, or drift pile that comprises the control may change during flood periods, debris may be piled on rock riffles, and aquatic vegetation, silt, and drift may accumulate in channels, on and behind dams, and in flumes.

All of these control changes are reflected in the plotting position of the discharge measurements on the rating curve. Theoretically, a new curve should be drawn following each one of these changes. However, instead of drawing new curves for each change in the stagedischarge relation, the shifting-control method is used in which a correction, called a shift

TECHNIQUES OF WATER-RESOURCES INVESTIGATIONS

014	467150	COOPER R A	T HADDONFIE	LD NJ			т	YPE LOG(SC	ALE OFFSET	= 1.00)	RATING NO 09
BASED ON		DISCHARGE ME	ASUREMENTS,	NO	, AN	D	AND IS	WELL	DEFINED BET	WEEN	AND
	FROM	TO	·, F	ROM	TO		*CKD.	BY	DATE		
GAGE HEIGHT IN FEET	.00	.01	DISCHARGE	IN CUBIC	FEET PER	SECOND	(STANCARD	PRECISION	.08	. 09	DIFF IN Q PER TENTH GH
1.30	8.9	9.3	9.7	10	10	11	11	12	12	13	4
1.40	13	14	14	15	15	16	17	17	18	19	6
1.50	20	20	21	22	23	24	25	26 41	27 #3	28 45	9
1.70	48	50	52	54	56	59	61	64	67	69	24
1.80	72	75	78	81	84	87	90	94	97	100	32
1.90	104	107	111	114	118	121	125	128	132	136	36
2,00	140	144	148	152	156	161	165	169	174	178	43
2.10	183	187	191	195	199	204	208	212	217	221	43
2,20	226	230	2 35	240	244	249	254	259	264	269	48
2.30	274	279	284	288	293	298	303	308	313	319	50
2.40	324	329	334	339	345	350	150	501	307	312	24
2.50	378	383	389	394	399	405	410	416	422	427	55
2.60	433	438	444	450	456	462	467	473	479	485	58
2.70	491	498	504	510	515	522	529	535	541	548	63
2.80	554	560	567	573	580	557	593	600	607	613	50
2,90	620	627	634	D41	648	055	002	009	0/0	003	10
3.00	690	697	704	711	718	725	732	739	747	754	71
3.10	761	768	776	783	790	798	805	813	820	828	75
3.20	836	843	851	859	866	874	882	890	898	906	78
3.30	914	922	930	938	946	954	962	970	978	987	81
3.40	995	1000	1010	1020	1030	101.0	1050	1050	1060	1070	85
3.50	1080	1090	1100	1110	1110	1120	1130	1140	1150	1160	90
3.60	1170	1170	1180	1190	1200	1210	1220	1230	1240	1250	80
3.70	1250	1260	1270	1280	1290	1300	1310	1320	1330	1340	100
3.80	1350	1360	1370	1370	1380	1390	1400	1410	1420	1430	90
3.90	1440	1450	1460	1470	1480	1490	1500	1510	1520	1530	100
4.00	1540	1550	1560	1570	1580	1590	1600	1610	1620	1630	100
4.10	1640	1650	1660	1670	1680	1690	1700	1710	1720	1730	100
4.20	1740	1750	1760	1770	1780	1790	1300	1810	1820	1830	100
4.30	1840	1850	1860	1870	1880	1890	1900	1910	1920	1930	100
4,40	1940	1950	1960	1970	1990	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	110
4.50	2050	2060	2070	2080	2090	2100	2110	2130	2140	2150	110
4,60	2160	2170	2180	2190	5500	2510	2.220	2230	2250	2260	110
4.70	2270	2280	2290								

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF INTERIOR - GEOLOGICAL SURVEY - WATER RESOURCES DIVISION EXPANDED RATING TABLE DATE PRINTED 08-20-81

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF INTERIOR - GEOLOGICAL SURVEY - WATER RESOURCES DIVISION EXPANDED RATING TABLE DATE PRINTED 08-20-81

014	67150	COOPER R AT	HADDONFIE	LD NJ			T	PE LOG(SCA	LE OFFSET =	1.00)	RATING NO 09
BASED ON		DISCHARGE MEA	SUREMENTS,	NO	, AN	D	AND IS	WELL DI	EFINED BETW	EEN	AND
GAGE	FROM	TO	, F	ROM	TO		*CKD.	BY D/	TE		DIFF IN Q
HEIGHT IN FEET	.0	. 1	DISCHARGE	IN CUBIC	FEET PER .4	SECOND	(STANDARD	PRECISION)	.8	.9	FOOT GH
1.00 2.00 3.00 4.00	140 690 1540	183 761 1640	226 836 1740	8.9 274 914 1840	13 324 995 1940	20 378 1080 2050	30 433 1170 2160	48 491 1250 2270	72 554 1350	104 620 1440	550 850

THE FOLLOWING RATING WAS STORED ON DISK FOR FUTURE USE

DATE PROCESSED 08-20-81

STATION		01467150	RATING IDENT 09	SCALE OFFSET	1.00
	POINTS	STORED	TEST FOR CONF	ORMANCE	
	INPUT	OUTPUT	POINT PERCENT	DIFF	
	1.30 1.40	8,90 13,00			
	1.50	19.50 29.50			
	1.90	47.50			
	2.30 2.50	274.00 378.00			
	2.80	554.00			
	4.00	1540.00 2050.00			
	1.30 1.40 1.50 1.70 2.30 2.50 2.80 2.80 3.50 4.00 4.72	8,90 13,00 29,50 47,50 104,00 183,00 274,00 378,00 554,00 1080,00 1540,00 2050,00 2290,00			



Α

В

adjustment, to the curve or table is computed. Refer to the list of discharge measurements in figure 10. Two columns in the center of the form were left blank when measurements were listed. At the top of these two columns is "Rating _" and the individual column headings are "Shift adj." and "Percent diff." Place the number of the rating table used in the space entitled "Rating _____." If a change in rating occurs between two measurements listed in the body of form 9-207, draw a heavy line across these two columns below the last measurement applying to the prior rating table and write the number of the new table just below. Compute, to one-hundredth of a foot, the gage height from the rating table which would produce the discharge shown on the measurment or as close to the measured discharge as possible. The difference between this computed gage height and the gage height of the measurement is the shift. If the computed gage height is greater than that of the measurement, the shift is plus; if it is less, the shift is minus. This should be checked with the curve according to the following criterion. If the plotted measurement is above or to the left, the shift is minus; if it is below or to the right, the shift is plus. Frequently, errors in shift, plotting of points, and location of rating curves are picked up from this check.

Percent difference is not shown on form 9-207 for measurements with shift adjustments given full weight (that is, the shift used is the actual shift indicated by the measurement to the nearest 0.01 ft). For those given less than full weight, both the shifts used and the percent differences from the rating (after application of these shifts) are shown.

A discharge measurement is subject to instrumental and sampling errors that cause a standard deviation of about 4 percent (0.6 method) or 2.5 percent (0.2 and 0.8 method) in a 25-section measurement according to a study by Carter and Anderson (1963). Additional errors that are related to the site conditions and the hydrographer's experience make the total error range of most measurements about 5 percent. For this reason, the shifting-control method is rarely used for series of measurements that plot within 5 percent of the rating curve. Therefore, one should compute actual percent differences without shifts before computing any shift adjustments. If all measurements are within 5 percent and plot on both sides of the rating, computing shifts is unnecessary except in special cases where greater refinement may be warranted. On the other hand, if a series of measurements during a year plot within about 5 percent and are all on the same side of the curve, one should consider shifting to all of them. drawing a new curve, or using the same shift throughout the vear and recomputing the percentages. The hydrographer in charge normally decides whether shifts will be applied, the old rating continued in use without shifts, or a new rating drawn. Sometimes a combination of all three procedures will be used for various periods through the year; however, similar periods should be treated the same way.

To compute a percent difference, obtain the discharge for the gage height (shifted-gage height if a shift is applied but not given full weight) of the measurement from the rating table, carrying the discharge to the same number of significant figures as is listed in the "discharge" column (measured discharge) on form 9–207. Divide the difference between the measured and the table discharge by the table discharge and multiply the result by 100. Carry the difference to the nearest one-tenth of a percent.

For ice-affected measurements, record "ice" in the percent difference column. For a measurement that was disregarded, write "NOT USED" across the shift and percent difference columns. The reasons for disregarding a measurement must be valid and fully explained in the station analysis. They should be limited to such items as equipment malfunction, gross errors in width or depth, or possibly the hydrographer's inexperience. Unexplained variation from the rating is not a valid reason.

In computing shifts for measurements with rapidly changing stage (greater than 0.1 ft during measurement), see that the weighted-mean gage height has been computed correctly.

The checker verifies the arithmetic of the computed shifts and percentage differences paying particular attention to the plus and minus signs. It is very easy to err in the sign of a shift, and too often a station record must be revised after computation because shifts have been applied in the wrong direction. One method to check the sign of the shifts is to add the shift adjustment algebraically to the gage height of the measurement and enter the rating table at the adjusted gage height; if the rating discharge at that point equals the measured discharge, the shift has been computed correctly.

If the percent differences are reasonably well balanced (about as many plus as minus) and the shift adjustments are satisfactory, the rating may be considered final and ready for use in computing the record. The hydrographers responsible for analyzing and checking the rating should initial the table in the space provided. Compare the high-water part of the new rating to the prior rating to check the need for revising past records.

Master curve sheets

A master curve sheet, usually hand drawn and neatly lettered in ink on a standard form, is used for the permanent record and to make copies for field and office use. A variety of standard forms is available, large and small, logarithmic or rectangular, and combination log-rectangular. Some forms are reverse printed for ease of erasing and for superior diazo copies. Others are front printed for the best electrostatic reproduction. Figure 13 illustrates one type of master curve sheet, prepared from the figure 11 worksheet and plotted on a combination sheet (standard form 9-279-S or P). Note that the use of a 1.0-ft gage-height scale offset instead of the 1.2-ft offset used in the descriptor makes the plotting simpler. However, this change makes the curve segments between the descriptor coordinate points bend slightly. The curvature is not apparent in the parts of the rating above 10 ft³/s in figure 13 but would cause scalloping at lower flows if the 1.0-ft scale offset were used on the worksheet.

Select an appropriate standard form for the master sheet, no larger than necessary to illustrate the rating. Logarithmic sheets are best for narrow-range ratings, and combination logrectangular sheets are usually preferable for ratings that extend down to zero flow. With a combination sheet, a log scale different from the one on the worksheet can be used for best placement of the main curve on the sheet and for scale simplicity. Some hydrographers prefer to use the normal log scales for all curves which, if used, should be prominently titled "Gage height, in feet—(offset) feet."

Choose the scales for the rectangular portion of a combination sheet to provide some overlap with the log curve and to insure that each principal grid division is a multiple of 1, 2, or 5 and not 2.5 or 4. A scale that permits GZF to be plotted is desirable.

Plot all measurements made during the water year, others that were used to define the rating, and all high-water measurements ever made at the site. Such drafting details as circle size, flag angle and length, and marginal information are matters of district or personal preference. Each measurement may be plotted only once when a log-rectangular combination sheet is used, using the log plot for measurements that fit and the rectangular plot for the rest. Additional measurement plotting on the rectangular part of the sheet is optional.

The part of the highest rating ever used for a published record at the station, that extends above the current rating, should be plotted as a dashed line to indicate the relation of the current curve to previous ratings. If a special highwater rating was prepared for flood-forecasting use by another agency, plot its curve with a distinctive line to indicate any need for updating as additional high-water measurements become available.

Identify each curve with its table number, and list the tables and their dates of use for final records (not primary computations). Tabulate the information concerning years, measurement numbers, and extremes in the spaces provided so that the criteria for omitting measurements from the plot is clear.

Manual Computation of Gage-Height Record

The computation of the gage-height record from a digital recorder is incidental to the automatic discharge record computation by an ADP program, and its discussion is included under "Computation of Discharge Record." Gageheight record computation is a separate step in



FIGURE 13.-Master curve sheet.

the manual processing of graphic-recorder and nonrecording gages and is described in this section.

Graphic recorders

The strip charts (fig. 6) are removed periodically from the graphic recorder and brought to the office for processing. Examine them for abnormalities. Compare the end of each chart segment with the start of the next segment for agreement with each other and with the discharge measurement notes. Sudden rises or falls, unless caused by local rain, should not ocucur except on a regulated stream. Sudden vertical jumps may denote clock stoppage, bubble-gage orifice movement or blockage. or unplugging of the intakes. Horizontal traces show possible intake blockage, dead batteries, electrical problems, or a bubble-gage orifice out of water. Vertical jumps or horizontal traces may also indicate faulty recorder action. If any suspicious periods are apparent, check the field notes to see if field personnel have noted an abnormal condition. Sometimes it is necessary to compare the chart with one from a nearby station to judge the reasonability of an odd-looking trace.

All notes and computations on the recorder chart must be neat, legible, aligned, and thoughtfully placed in soft black pencil to facilitate their interpretation and checking. No writing should obscure the pen trace or the reversal checks.

Dating recorder charts

Date the recorder charts by numbering each day prominently below the lower baseline of the chart on the noon line. Show the month and year on the first and last day of each month and on about every fifth day in between. Be sure the dates and gage heights on the discharge measurements agree with those on the recorder record.

Pen corrections for time

Determine and apply time corrections where necessary. Make a note on the chart at each in-

spection stating whether the pen-reading was correct or how slow or fast it was at that point. Inspect the record carefully where time corrections are large or erratic to be sure the clock has not stopped and restarted. Apply the time corrections to the nearest hour. Prorate corrections on a straight-line basis between gage inspections. A graphic method of distributing corrections is shown in figure 14. Simple mental arithmetic is the most rapid method for distributing small adjustments. Draw a short, heavy vertical line on the chart to indicate each adjusted midnight line, making sure to apply the corrections in the correct direction-ahead of the printed line if the pen is fast and behind it if the pen is slow. If there has been practically no range of stage during the period, small time corrections may be ignored as they would have no effect upon the figures of mean daily gage height computed from the graph.

Pen corrections for gage height

Determine the gage-height corrections to the recorder trace next. These are derived from any differences between readings of the recorder pen and the principal gage at inspections after any datum or gage height corrections to the principal gage have been applied. The corrections will usually be distributed according to time in essentially the same manner as time corrections and will be applied to figures of gage height obtained from the graph, whether instantaneous readings or mean figures for part or all of a day. An error in setting the pen at the start of a strip of chart will ordinarily be constant throughout the length of the strip; however, the total error may be increased or decreased by other factors.

It is sometimes necessary to correct recorder charts for reversal errors; that is, when the pen reverses either past the margin line or short of it. Reversal errors are caused by several things, such as expansion or contracton of the chart paper, lateral travel of the chart, incorrect setting of the pen, or mechanical error due to wear or maladjustment of the recorder. Most of these causes can be minimized by careful maintenance and servicing of the recorder, but paper expansion is a special problem related to humidity in the gage shelter. The strip-chart gradua-



FIGURE 14.-Interpolation of pen corrections from graph plotted on recorder chart.

tions are 10 in wide when printed, 9.95 in wide in an extremely dry environment, and 10.4 in wide when the paper is completely saturated. The recorder is calibrated for a 10.00-in grid and with a perforated tape or beaded cable and splined-float wheel reverses at stages exactly 5 ft apart (10 ft apart for 1:12 ratio recorders). Reversal corrections less than 0.03 ft are normally disregarded. Larger corrections are applied to the pen readings at reversals and are prorated with stage for application to intermediate pen readings. Reversal errors are usually combined with other errors and without additional information are extremely difficult to correct. A step-reversal check, made in the field when a new strip of chart is started and again when it is removed, leaves steps whose true gage heights are known on the chart's ends. This information makes it possible to apply reversal corrections rapidly and accurately. Figure 15 illustrates a completed recorder chart affected seriously by reversal error and slightly by lateral paper travel. The step-reversal check lines at both ends of the chart strip were used to define the stage-graduated gage-height corrections applied to the recorder pen trace.

Computing mean daily gage heights

After the recorder chart has been dated and corrected, the mean daily gage heights and any

other gage-height data required may be computed. Most mean daily gage heights are determined graphically by using a thin, rectangular guide made of transparent plastic about 2 by 8 in in size, through the middle of one side of which has been scribed a visible straight line parallel to the long edge. A pencilpoint size hole at the center of the line is an added convenience. The plastic guide is placed over a 24-h segment of the recorder chart and moved into a position with the straight line approximately over the pen trace, so that all areas lying above the straight line and below the graph are equal to all areas lying below the straight line and above the graph. When the areas are thus balanced, the point at which the straight line intersects the noon line represents the uncorrected mean daily gage height. An example of this graphical method of determining mean daily gage height is shown for April 8, 1981, in figure 15.

List the figure of mean daily gage height thus determined on the noon line for that day, between 1 and 2 in above the base line. If a pen correction for gage height is applicable, enter it just below the uncorrected gage height, add or subtract the correction, and write the corrected gage height immediately below.

It is imperative that the recorder chart be adjusted with reference to the principal gage, the gage used for determining mean gage heights for the discharge measurements. Otherwise, it



FIGURE 15.-Gage-height and discharge computations on graphic-recorder chart.

would be possible for large errors to enter into the computation of discharge. The inside floattype gage that drives the recorder is normally used as the principal gage for all graphicrecorder gage-height computations.

Allowable range in stage

The relation of discharge to gage height is nonlinear. The discharge corresponding to the mean gage height for a day of widely ranging stage is more or less than the actual discharge. If the rating curve is concave downward on rectangular paper, the mean gage height applied to it will be too low. The reverse is true for any concave upward parts of rectangularly plotted ratings.

The usual practice is to subdivide the daily gage-height graph wherever the error in the mean daily discharge produced by not subdividing would exceed 4 percent. An allowable rangein-stage table is used to determine the need for subdivision. One method of computing an allowable range-in-stage table from a rating table is first to select a gage height near the lower end of the rating table and observe the corresponding discharge. Then, by trial and error, determine the distance, in feet, equally in each direction that it is possible to move without the average of the two corresponding discharges differing by more than 4 percent from the discharge at the selected gage height. The difference between the latter two gage heights represents the allowable range of stage before subdivision is necessary. Repeat the process for as many stages as are necessary to develop a suitable table. This method was used to compute the allowable-range table in figure 17 from the rating table in figure 16.

Where shift adjustments are used, the adjusted gage heights are applied to the range table. A range table prepared from one rating can be used with a different rating as long as both have generally similar shapes and the discharges being computed are not extremely low.

Subdivided days

When a day is subdivided, it becomes necessary to determine mean gage heights for periods



of less than 24 hours, and to combine the several figures of gage height and corresponding discharge arithmetically to obtain mean daily values. Two methods, both described in this section, are used: mean interval subdivision and midinterval or flood subdivision. Where sediment or chemical-quality computations are included, the variations in those constituents must be considered, in addition to rating curvature, for the selection of subdivision intervals.

In selecting intervals to use when subdividing gage-height graphs, a good method is to start at the lowest point on the graph and move upward as far as the allowable-rise table will permit. The length of the period can usually be rounded upward to the nearest hour lines. The periods should be in multiples of 2, 3, or 4-hours insofar as possible to simplify the arithmetic.

Computation of daily mean gage heights for subdivided days is optional but does provide a convenient means of checking discharge computations for gross errors and adequate subdivision.

Mean interval subdivision

When the mean gage height for an interval is determined graphically by averaging areas, the subdivision is known as the mean interval method. The mean gage heights for parts of days adjusted for corrections and shifts are applied to the rating table and the daily mean discharge is computed from the time-weighted values of those discharges. The method is illustrated for April 9, 1981, on the sample gageheight chart (fig. 15). Mean discharges computed by this method, using a range table to select the interval, are usually about 2-4 percent less than the true discharge unless the rating curve on rectangular paper bends upward within the stage range and causes the computed discharge to be greater than the true discharge.

With experience, the need for subdivision can sometimes be judged without a range table by considering the shape of the rating curve and the character of the recorder chart. Many rating curves have considerable curvature at the lower

TECHNIQUES OF WATER-RESOURCES INVESTIGATIONS

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR - GEOLOGICAL SURVEY - WATER RESOURCES DIVISION EXPANDED RATING TABLE DAIF PRINTED 09-01-81

0	5447540						T*	rPE LOG (SC	CALE OFFSET	(= I.20)	RATING NO. 9
BASED ON	D	ISCHARGE M	EASUREMENT	S, NO	, AI	, D	AND IS	WELL I	EFINED BET	WEEN	AND
	FROM			FROM	то		*CCMP I *CKD. I	ЗҮ ЗҮ ———	DATE		
				· ·							
CAGE HEIGHT			DISCHAR	GE IN CUBI	FEET PER	SECOND (E	XPANDED PRI	CISION)			DIFF IN Q PER
IN FELT	.00	1 .01	.02	.03	1.04	.05	1 .08	.0/	.08	.09	ILNIH GP
1.20 1.30 1.40	.124 .561	.153 .624	 .184 .691	.009 .220 .761	017 .258 .835	.027 .300 .913	.041 .345 .994	.057 .394 1.08	.076 .446 1.17	.099 .502 1.26	.437 .79
1.50 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.90	1.36 2.54 4.13 6.14 8.60	1.46 2.68 4.31 6.37 8.87	1.56 2.83 4.50 6.60 9.14	1.67 2.97 4.69 6.83 9.42	1.78 3.13 4.88 7.07 9.70	1.90 3.28 5.08 7.32 9.99	2.02 3.44 5.29 7.56 10.3	2.14 3.61 5.50 7.81 10.6	2.27 3.78 5.71 8.07 10.9	2.40 3.95 5.92 8.33 11.2	1.18 1.59 2.01 2.46 2.9
GAGE HEIGHT IN FEET	.0	.1	DISCHAR	GE IN CUBIO	FEET PER	SECOND (E	XPANDED PRI	CISION)	.8	.9	DIFF IN Q PER FOOT GH
2.00 3.00 4.00	11.5 49.2 101.8	14.4 53.9 107.6	17.6 58.9 113.6	20.9 64.0 119.7	24.4 69.3 125.8	28.0 74.6 132.1	31.9 79.8 138.5	36.0 85.1 145.0	40.2 90.5 151.6	44.6 96.1 158.3	37.7 52.6 63.3
5.00 6.00 7.00 8.00 9.00	165.1 237.8 319.6 410.0 495.2	171.9 245.6 328.4 418.3 503.9	178.9 253.5 337.1 426.7 512.7	185.9 261.5 346.0 435.1 521.6	193.0 269.6 354.9 443.5 530.5	200.3 277.6 363.9 452.0 539.4	207.6 285.8 372.9 460.6 548.3	215.0 294.3 382.1 469.2 557.3	222.5 302.6 391.3 477.8 566.4	230.1 311.1 400.6 486.5 575.5	72.7 81.9 90.3 85.2 89.4
10.00 11.00 12.00 13.00 14.00	584.6 677.9 774.8 875.2 978.9	593.7 687.4 784.7 885.5 989.4	602.9 697.0 794.7 895.7 1000	612.2 706.6 804.6 906.0 1012	621.4 716.2 814.6 916.3 1024	630.8 725.9 824.6 926.7 1036	640.1 735.6 834.7 937.1 1049	649.5 745.4 844.8 947.5 1061	658.9 755.2 854.9 957.9 1073	668.4 765.0 865.1 968.4 1086	93.3 96.9 100.4 103.7 119
15.00 16.00 17.00 18.00 19.00	1098 1242 1490 1800 2246	1111 1263 1520 1841 2295	1123 1284 1549 1883 2344	1136 1306 1579 1926 2394	1149 1328 1609 1970 2445	1161 1350 1640 2014 2497	1174 1377 1671 2059 2550	1187 1405 1703 2104 2603	1200 1433 1735 2151 2658	1221 1462 1767 2198 2713	144 248 310 446 523
20.00 21.00 22.00 23.00 24.00	2769 3376 4077 4880 5794	2825 3442 4153 4966 5892	2883 3509 4229 5053 5991	2942 3576 4307 5142 6091	3001 3645 4385 5232 6193	3061 3714 4465 5322 6296	3122 3785 4546 5414 6400	3185 3856 4628 5507 6505	3248 3929 4711 5602 6612	3311 4002 4795 5697 6719	607 701 803 914 1035
25.00 26.00	6829 7994	1 6939 8118	7051 8244	7164 8370	7279 8499	7394 8629	7512 8760	7630	7750	7871	1165

FIGURE 16.-Rating table corresponding to figure 17 allowable-range table.

end; when sharp rises occur at times of low flow, even though the range in stage may not be large, the subdivided discharge may be several times the discharge obtained from the daily mean gage height. If a range table is not used, the daily mean gage heights should be computed to compare the subdivided and unsubdivided discharge to monitor the hydrographer's judgment.

Subdivision is merely manual integration. Mechanical integrators and electronic digitizers have been developed to compute the discharge for stations having large and frequent fluctuations in stage such as for those stations below power plants. However, digital recorders are usually more practical than graphic recorders for stations that require unusually frequent subdivision.

Midinterval subdivision

An alternate way to subdivide a day is to list the time and gage height at the start and end of the day and at enough intermediate times to define the variations in stage adequately. The gage-height change between intervals should be within the allowable-range table limits. The method is called "midinterval subdivision" because of the way daily values are computed. The listed value for each time is considered constant during the period starting halfway between the listed and previous listed times and ending halfway between the listed and subsequent listed times. This is the same concept used to compute discharge measurement subsection widths. Midinterval subdivision computations are laborious, especially with unequal

BASIC RELATIONS

Symbols

From graph at right

$$\frac{Q_{\rm L} + Q_{\rm U}}{2} = Q + 0.04Q = 1.04Q$$

$$Q_{L} + Q_{U} = 2.08Q$$



COMPUTATIONS

Selected	Q	2,080	Wi	dest Rang	ge with	$Q_L + Q_U$	< 2.08Q	Allowable Rise
Gage Height G	(from rating)	2.080	G_L	Q_L	շ _Ս	Չ _Մ	$Q_L + Q_U$	GU - GL (Feet)
1.3	0.12	0.25	1.29	0.10	1.31	0.13	0.23	0.02
1.5	1.35	2.81	1.45	.91	1.55	1.90	2.81	.1
2.0	11.5	23.9	1.8	6.1	2.2	17.7	23.8	.4
3.0	49.2	102	2.5	28.0	3.5	74.6	102.6	1.0
5.0	165	343	3.8	90.5	6.2	254	344	2.4
9.0	495	1030	6.0	238	12.0	775	1013	6.0
13	875	1820	10.0	585	16.0	1240	1825	6.0
15	1100	2290	13.5	927	16.5	1350	2280	3.0
18	1800	3740	17.0	1490	19.0	2250	3740	2.0
23	4880	10200	21.0	3380	25.0	6830	10200	4.0

ALLOWABLE-RANGE TABLE (Listing of $G_{\rm L}$ and Allowable Rise)

Gage Height	Allowable Rise	Cage Height	Allowable Rise
1.29	0.02	6.0	6.0
1.45	.1	10.0	6.0
1.8	.4	13.5	3.0
2.5	1.0	17.0	2.0
3.8	2.4	21.0	4.0

FIGURE 17.-Derivation of an allowable-range table.



intervals or points between whole hours, but a programmable calculator can simplify the work. The sample chart (fig. 15) illustrates midinterval subdivision for May 3-7, 1981. Some hydrographers prefer to list the subdivision computations on separate sheets to avoid clutter on the recorder charts.

Flood reports and other special studies contain flow data in the midinterval-subdivision format. The computed daily figures for the special report, usually prepared after the annual report has been published, should agree exactly with the daily figures in the annual report but rarely do unless the same subdivisions were used for both. Some cooperating agencies specify midinterval subdivision for all periods of substantial flooding to avoid such discrepancies in their reports. Some hydrographers prefer the midinterval method for all subdivision despite its shortcomings for small short rises where numerous irregular time increments must be used. One common practice is to use midinterval subdivision for all high-water periods that contain a peak above a chosen base discharge and to use the simpler mean interval method for smaller rises.

Gage-height record checking

After a recorder chart is computed, each of the steps must be carefully checked. When the mean daily gage heights are computed on recorder charts, one unconsciously tends to concentrate primarily on the hundredth of a foot and gives somewhat less attention to the larger graduations. This results in fairly frequent mistakes of feet, half feet, and tenths. The primary duty of the checker should be to give particular attention to the large units and somewhat less attention to the hundredths. Approximately half of a checker's time can be saved by concentrating on the large units, because for many days this type of check can be made without using the plastic straight-line device. This procedure is not a lowering of accuracy standards but is actually a step toward better accuracy-with an attendant saving in time.

Accordingly, except for certain special studies or stations with extremely flat ratings,

changes to mean daily gage heights by the checker are limited to 0.02 ft or more. Changes of 0.01 ft are not generally made because they almost invariably produce insignificant changes in discharge. There are times when there is justification for making a change of 0.01 ft; for example, if it is obvious that there was no change in discharge from one day to the next, but the computed daily gage height indicates a jog that did not occur. In other words, it is important to make those small changes if by so doing the daily gage heights are made to indicate the day-to-day trend.

Checking is done using a colored pencil to make a small dot after each checked figure or, after erasing an incorrect one, to replace it with a neat figure in the same space.

The following questions pertain to areas where errors of computation most often appear: (1) Were the "end of period" notes recorded properly? (2) Were indicated gage-height, pen, and datum corrections applied? Were they applied with the right sign? (3) Was the time correction applied? Was it applied in the right direction? (If time is slow, the line is in back of the midnight line; if time fast, it is ahead.) (4) Were corrections for reversal and mechanical errors applied properly? (5) Were the periods of reversal checked? (It is easy to compute a gage height as 4.80 (before reversal) when it should be 5.20 (after reversal).) (6) Was the mean gage height recorded to the correct foot, half foot, or tenth? (7) (Check this whenever any period of chart record looks suspicious.) Was a correct appraisal of the recorder operation used in the computation? Remember, the checker assumes all responsibility for the accuracy of the record. The checker's initial and the date are placed near the end of each chart segment.

Notes for station analysis

Notes to be included later in the "station analysis" should be written at this time. (See "Station Analysis" section.) Any changes in location or equipment should be described in the paragraph headed "Equipment." All irregularities in the gage-height record, such as clock stoppage or faulty-intake action, should be discussed and listed by dates in the "Gage-height record" paragraph.

Nonrecording gages

The observer records the gage readings, generally twice daily, in a quarterly book (one page is illustrated in figure 18) usually kept at the gage. Each week the observer copies the past week's readings on a special card and sends it to the field office. At the time of each visit, the hydrographer determines the stages of highwater marks left on the streambanks or recorded on a crest-stage gage, enters the readings made for discharge measurements in the book, and, preferably with the observer's help, determines the date of peak stages since the last inspection and reconciles any inconsistent readings. Examine the books for any abnormalities left unresolved in the field.

Computing daily mean gage heights

Enter the corrections previously listed for inclusion in the station analysis in the spaces provided in the gage books at the bottom of each left page. Compute the average of the morning and afternoon readings for days of little change in stage and enter them in the book under "Obs." Add the applicable correction, if any, to the average figure and enter the result in the book under "Corr."

Draw a stage hydrograph on a piece of graphic recorder chart for all high-water periods and other days when the mean of the two readings would not be a reasonable approximation of the daily mean. Use the same time and gageheight scales for all flood period graphs so that

May 9

	•	
TRACE MERCUTS END WEEK ENDING CATUDINAY		10
UAUE REPUTED FUR WEEK ENDING OATURDAT.		

REMARKS	ge Height	Mean G	Gaza Haizh	Time	Day
ollow "Instructions for Gage Observer" in the front of this book	Cerr.*	Obs.			Date
		9	2.68	6:40	See.
		4.00	5.14	P. M. 6.00	
		9050	9. 3 5	л.м. 7: 30	Men.
HWMK 10.3 (hand level) R.S.S.		7.30	10.30	р. м. 7:00	4
		9 8.90	9.50	л. м. 7:30 Р. М.	5
			8.00	7:00	
		g 5.51	6.20	6.15	Wool 6
			4.58	Р.м. 6:45	
		9 7 ЛЛ	3.64	л.м. 6:45	hars. 7
		2.77	3.13	Р. М. 6. ЗО	
		211	2.77	л.м. 6:30	Fri.
		2.64	2.50	Р. М. 6:30	
2.11 of 12:40 2.06 of 12:50 after debris remove	Vor. ab.ft	217	2.24	а.м. 6:50	Sat. Q
(SEND regular CARD teday)		2.11	2.00	Р. М. 6:30	

FIGURE 18.-Computed page of nonrecording-gage observer's book.

80

a flood-stage hydrograph template similar to the one in figure 19 can be used to shape the graph. The template is made on recorder chart paper by tracing the shapes of previous floodstage hydrographs that were well defined by gage readings. Given the observer's readings and the peak stage, plotted on chart paper, and with the template under the paper as a shaping guide, the best possible graph of the data can be drawn. Be sure to include the last previous lowwater day on the graph.

Subdivision of days is identical to that for graphic-recorder stations, using an allowablerange table and midinterval subdivision. Figure 20 illustrates a typical graph and subdivisions.

All computations and plotting are checked in the same manner as graphic chart work. After checking, the gage-height graphs may be folded and taped into the gage-reading books for storage.



FIGURE 19.—Template for shaping nonrecording-gage graphs.

Copying gage heights on form 9-192a

Form 9-192a (fig. 21) is the basic computation sheet for stations whose discharge records are computed manually. A similar form 9-192b with extra columns for additional rating factors (fall, rate of change, and shift) is sometimes used. The form is often distributed to fill requests for data so it is carefully aligned and lettered in India ink for ozalid reproduction. The original is kept in the files as the official record, and future revisions to the published record will be noted on the original form 9-192a.

Fill in the headings in the spaces provided. Copy the daily mean gage heights from the recorder charts or gage books. If the mean gage height for a subdivided day was computed, list the figure with a lower case "s" at the left edge of the discharge column. If no mean gage height was computed, show an "s" in the center of the gage-height column.

Heavy black lines are used to indicate certain conditions. A line across the gage-height column indicates the date of a change in datum or location. A line across the discharge column shows the date of a rating change. A vertical line between the gage-height and discharge column signifies that the discharge was computed by a method other than the application of a rating to the gage height.

Check the above work. The copier's work and the checker's work are initialed and dated in the appropriate boxes. The form is then ready for the next step.

Computation of Discharge Record

Discharge records are computed by applying the gage-height record, with adjustments where the shifting-control method is used, to the applicable discharge rating. This computation is made for each instantaneous gage height from a digital recorder. For a graphic recorder or nonrecording gage, only one computation is made for each day or interval of a subdivided day. Form 9-192a is the worksheet for manual computations, and a special computer printout, the primary computation sheet, is its equivalent for



Figure 20.—Computed nonrecording-gage graph.

for ADP records. Discharge for periods of ice effect, missing gage-height record, or variable backwater is estimated or computed by using special methods.

The discharge computation for ordinary periods of record is a mechanical process except for distributing the shift adjustments. These adjustments tend to vary with time, stage, or both simultaneously, and different methods have been developed to distribute them under nearly all rating situations. After the distribution computations described in the next paragraphs have been made, the daily shift adjustments for graphic and nonrecording stations are listed on form 9-192a for nonsubdivided days (fig. 21), and those for subdivided day intervals are usually entered on the recorder charts (fig. 15) or gage-height graphs (fig. 20). The WATSTORE User's Guide contains instructions for entering manually distributed shift adjustments into the ADP system or for providing for various automatic shift distributions (constant, time varied, stage varied, or simultaneous time and stage varied) between the measurement-defined shifts.

Mud	Creek	at Cristic	eld,]//	-1980
-----	-------	------------	----------	-------

		1							. keta	10***			09	-/2	2 2 2				1998				78 5 5	5.	//	-	 		рен H Э H Э	Pauce Vala	276.60				:
5447540	Mo. 9		Barrawhaa	ucht Discharge DA	1 62 25	0/ 10	80 5.3 3	5/ / /	8 9C //	30 26	35	8	0 00 02	18 8 00 12	15 .00 13	100, 11	21 00 12 80	2010	11 00	00	00 20	.00 21	200	00 23	200	47 00 X	12 00.	82 00	82 00 30	8	46.45 11		· ····································		
Ration Number 0	Card rating table da	Gage beights word to hundradithe beine an	ADOUNT	Gage Duscharge G	2 00	2 00	. 8	00	100	. 8.	. 00 .	8	8	100	8	8	1 00	3 8	3.00	00.	00	3.	8	8	8 8	8	8	8	8	1.91 3 1, 15	11.65				1
		Couse	Jurr	ight Discharge	00:	00	00	88	00	00	.00	8	00	00	00	0.5	00.	<u></u>	8,00	00	00	00	00.	00	00	00	8	00.	00.	88	00.				
ATES THE INTERIOR		Later A.J.	Juwe	ught Ducharge G	520 1.6	49 6. 1.2	47 . 99	45 . 83	4/ 56	39 45	96. 96	3	32 22	8/ 56	32 .15	3/ 1/2	2/ 1/2	201.02	25 07	00 22	2/ .00	21 .00	8	8	00	00.	00	00	00.	8	8.28				
RTMENT OF 1	WATER RESOURCE		Млт	age Duscharge he	07 730 1	0/ 1+ 1/0	1 2112 60	51 > 341 1	50 202 1	1 6902 00	1 16 22	20 × 13	75 5.1 /	60 3.0	61 2.7 1	56 2.0 1.	10 1.0		4 1-1 1-1 1-1 1-1 1-1 1-1 1-1 1-1 1-1 1-	43 76 /	4/ 23. 14	54 2 2.0 1.	6.2 6.9	66 6.1	75 51	70 3 4.5	65 3.3	72 4.5	6.6 3.3	50 2.5 52 20	1704 59		;		
DEPA		ue Read to We	Arau	fe Ducharge G	5 0/62 4.	16 25 3.	12 6.1 4	24 4.0 9.	3.1.5	5/ 134 3.	2 27 2	2000	20 20 V	20 16 1	06 12 1	20 16 1	2		1010	20 40	1 36 1	1 0.6 9:	52 2.5 1	2 2.1	59 / 8 / 47 / 6 /	56 1.4 1	53 1.2 1	1 66 16	1/6. 105	1 60 × 63	491.03				
13		5		Duscharge	64 43	59 2 24	5.5 3 1.6	44	4.00	21.2	6.5 8 2.5	10 03	60, 10	14 10 22	25 13 2.0	£0 11 52	10 10 10 20	191 E		9. / ⁸¹	76 20 12	7. / 21 / 4	6 / 22 /.4	5.5 23 /1	5 / 34 /	4. / 36 / 1	36 27 13	3.3 28 /-	3.0 20 1	2.5 ¹⁸ /.	244.4				
	mber 30, 19 ØO	Ratio /	CARY M	bueharge Gage	4.0 / 86	4.6 1.84	4.6 1.02	46 184	261 44	44 1.09	66.1 50	4.7 2.00	4.2 / 28	4224	4.0 246	4.0 2.33	3.8 2.20	2000	20 2 00	720 197	161 04	240 1 89	375 1.85	201 66	08/ 2/	10 1.75	0.1 1.72	73 170	1.68	167	210.0	<u></u>			
Mua	ur Rading Septer	4-35	ry Fran	charge Cage I	45 200	50 2.00	5.5 2.01	55 2.01	60 2.07	6.2 2.07	63 200	65 209	6.5 2.05	6.5 2.02	6.5 197	6.5 194	6.5 / 94		04.2 0.90	2 23.07	6.0 16 75 9	60 6.03	5.5 350	55 260	22 25	52 2.00	50 193	50 1.90	5.0	8 8 8 8	79.1 8			<u> </u>	
· Second, of	for the Ye	Stevens.	JANGA	rge Gaagt. Du	1 199 0	10 201	1 2:09	7 2.10	3 2 15	5 2 5	3 215	3 215	3 2.15	212 6	7 209	7 205	202 0	40, 4	2 1.45	5 / 95	0 195	0 195	2 / 93	56/ 2	5 19/	5 192	5 191	5 193	5 /95	5 199 6)				
Cubic Feet, pe		r-Stage Recorde	DECEMBER	Gage Duscha height	157, 2.	163 3	1,70 4.	4 661	176 5	177 5.	176 5	176 5.	0 40		9 	4 23	9.22	1 C / C	2 2 2	5,72 10 A	18 3.	105 4	109	4 26/	÷ 26.	× × ×	195 4	195 4	× 8	198 04	130		'	: 	
d Discharge, in	111	aure Milen. Wate	Noversen	Cage Ducharge Icight	162 20	162 28	167 28	162 20	12 28	165 33	164 31	161 27	16/ 27	121 27	16/ 27	162 28	1.6 3.1	165 60	101 27	101 27	1.56 2.0	1.50 2.3	162 27	165 33	00 001	1.60 25	160 2.5	1.59 24	150 23	1.2 151	81.3			; ; . ·	1
ight, in Feet, an	Cristield.	507. 84	OCTOBER	we Dischark abt (4 0)	70 4.1	37	67 3.6	66 Ja 4	66 34	65 33 .	65 3.3	65 33	10 4.1	2.2	61 27	60 25	60 25	100	60 X.D	60 × 5	60 2.5	61 2.7	50,30	43 26	12 15	74 57	4.6 32	65 33) ej 53	07 29	161.5	:	;		
Daily Gage Hel	-	Drainage Area		170 170 170			(C)	100	747 747	45 (9 A			2	x : (40)	(<i>op</i>	- 	ביין גופן ארץ	TP4	-260	-5	-9	קוו יקו	2 2 2 2 2 2	20 Z	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	51 24-1	10 10 10	8 70 5 0)	8 72.10 1-10	8	4Z TOTAL	Mcan	Maximum	(fam.	Runel In Inchry

FIGURE 21.-Computed form 9-192a.

Peak discharge (base, 450+13/2) -- Feb 19 (1943) & 760 43/2 (26 60+1); Noy 4 (1900) 614 43/2 (10.32 4).

٠

The basic operations for the shifting-control method are essentially the same for ADP or manual computations.

Distribution of shift adjustments

The shift adjustments, if any, that apply at the times of discharge measurements were computed previously and listed tentatively on form 9-207 (fig. 10). The shift adjustments that apply during the periods between the measurements must be interpolated by an appropriate method before the discharge records can be computed. The method used will depend on the hydrographer's judgment considering the nature of the shifting, the frequency of measurements, and the type of channel and control.

Small shifts that change gradually may be distributed satisfactorily by inspection using mental interpolation. Larger shifts, whose variations are adequately defined by discharge measurements, warrant a more rigorous analysis with some form of graphic shiftadjustment-variation diagram. The accuracy of discharge records computed from a rating with large and erratic shifts depends to a great extent on the frequency of discharge measurements, and particularly unstable streams may need weekly or even daily measurements to define the day-to-day shift-adjustment variation.

The shift-adjustment variation between discharge measurements of unstable channels may be too great for the usual interpolation methods and a special technique may be needed. One procedure involves varying the shifts smoothly between the measurement-defined values until a smooth daily-discharge hydrograph (see "Discharge Hydrographs" section) that follows the trends indicated by the discharge measurements is obtained. A streamflow record should be computed from the data collected at the site, and, except for estimated portions, be free from the influence of other streamflow records. For this reason the use of records for other stations to distribute shift adjustments is normally avoided. If shift adjustments interpolated to produce a smooth hydrograph are above or below the range of adjustments indicated by the two adjacent discharge measurements, the discharge records for that period should be considered as estimated rather than computed and their accuracy rating downgraded accordingly.

Shift-adjustment variation diagrams

A shift-adjustment variation diagram (V diagram), a graph of the relation between shift adjustment and either time or stage, is commonly used to interpolate shift adjustments between measurement-defined values. The V-diagram shifts can be graduated with time, stage, or time and stage simultaneously either manually or as part of the ADP primary or update procedures.

When a low-water control is scoured or filled or affected by backwater from leaves, debris, or aqueous growth, the corresponding rating shift is greatest at low water and normally tapers to zero at some higher stage. This is called a stagevariable shift. If the channel is alluvial and its bed is raised and lowered by sediment being picked up or deposited, the shift variation with stage may be negligible compared to its variation with time, and the shifts are called "time variable." Most streams have shifts that must be graduated with stage while the stage graduation is changing with time.

Time-variable-shift distribution can be made manually by using a V diagram, similar to the one in figure 22, where measurement-defined shifts are plotted and curvilinear interpolations are made visually. The corresponding ADP process prorates the shift adjustments linearly between measurement-defined points, but arbitrary data points may be used to obtain other distributions.

Stage-variable-shift distribution can be made by using V diagrams similar to those in figure 23. Each diagram involves a base-rating curve (the numbered rating in effect at the time); a shift-rating curve (a rating curve drawn to fit the measurements that define the shift, usually only on the rating work-curve sheet); and the V diagram (the gage-height differences between the base curve and shift curve, plotted against stage). The shift curve should normally be drawn first with the same consideration given to its shape as would be given to a numbered



FIGURE 22.—Time-shift-variation diagram with corresponding hydrograph.

rating. The V diagram is best defined by drawing its corresponding shift curve first. The V diagrams of the type in figure 23A, for relatively small shifts, may be defined directly from measurement-defined shifts without drawing a shift curve, but this process is not recommended with other V-diagram types or for large shifts where it could lead to grossly misshapen equivalent ratings and dubious discharge records. A stage-variable V diagram may be expanded, contracted, or reversed (mirror image), and the change in shape may be graduated with time. The process can be done manually or automatically to distribute shift adjustments with respect to time and stage simultaneously.

Shift adjustments varied with time only

Figure 22 illustrates a time-shift V diagram plotted below the corresponding daily hydrograph. The type of shift illustrated varies only with time, but the variation is faster at high stages than at low stages. The shift-distribution process requires a hydrograph or readable gageheight record as a guide for the shift distribution, so its greatest use is for manually computing records or updating of ADP records.

To use the process (1) plot the measurementdefined shifts on the days of measurements by using a convenient improvised shift scale: (2) connect the plotted points with a smooth curve so that no interpolated daily shift is above or below the range of the adjacent measurementdefined shifts: (3) apply the shifts from the V diagram to the daily mean gage heights (or equivalent gage heights for ADP records) and plot the computed discharges on the hydrograph; (4) look for anomalies in the hydrograph such as odd-looking rises or recessions or rising hydrographs during falling-stage periods and modify the V diagram to correct them; and, (5) for ADP records, enter the resulting V-diagram shift data in the update program described in the WATSTORE User's Guide (vol. 1). These shifts will be applied to equivalent gage heights stored in the Daily Values File and used with the appropriate rating to compute the updated mean daily discharges.

Shift adjustments varied with stage only

The use of a stage-varied-shift adjustment is equivalent to drawing a new numbered rating curve and may be preferable for temporary rating changes. The principal use for stage-shift diagrams is as one step in the process used for varying shifts with both stage and time as explained in a subsequent section.



FIGURE 23.-Effect of various stage shift-variation diagram shapes on shift-curve shape.

Figure 23 illustrates typical stage-shift V diagrams and the relations between their corresponding base curves and shift curves. The V diagrams for manual application are usually

curved, but the curve must be approximated by two straight lines for ADP use (in 1982). An ADP version is defined by six descriptors; three gage heights called "upper," "base," and

"lower"; and a shift adjustment corresponding to each of those three gage heights. The figure 23A (manual) V diagram is curved, and the ADP straight-line approximation of it has the following descriptors: upper. 3.0, -0.10; base, 2.5, -0.25; and lower, 1.9, -0.25. The upper descriptors could just as well be 3.33, 0.00, which would describe the same upper line of the diagram. The V diagrams (manual and ADP) describe a shift curve 0.25 ft above the base curve for stages below 2.5 ft that merges with the base curve at 3.33-ft gage height. The manual version can be either a graph or a table. The V diagram in figure 23B describes a shift curve identical to the base curve at low and high stages and above it at medium stages. The V-diagram shapes in figure 23A and 23B, in positive or negative versions, cover all ordinary rating situations. The other three shapes in figure 23 may be needed for unusual rating conditions but probably indicate an improper baserating shape.

The gage-height difference between the shift curve and the base curve at a given stage, used for V-diagram definition, must be measured from a point at the given gage height on the shift curve to a point on the base curve directly above or below that point. Figure 24 illustrates the procedure for plotting a point on the shift curve given the gage height and the magnitude of the shift adjustment. Measuring from the point where the base curve intersects the given gage height is a frequent mistake that results in a serious error wherever the shift adjustment is large and the rating is sharply curved.



FIGURE 24.—Plotting positions of stage-shift-variation diagram points on the shift curve.

To prepare a stage-shift diagram (1), on the rating curve worksheet, mark the measurements that define the shift curve and draw the trial shift curve based on them; (2) plot the measurement-defined shift adjustments and the gage-height differences between the base and shift curves at several gage heights (fig. 25), on a rectangular grid; (3) draw a V diagram considering all of the plotted points; (4), for ADP, approximate the V diagram with two intersecting straight lines and list the three coordinate sets (gage height and shift adjustment as illustrated in figure 23A; (5) replot the shift curve by using the V diagram and, if the shift curve is poorly shaped, modify the V diagram as necessary to correct it; and (6) determine from the V diagram the shift adjustment applicable to each discharge measurement and recompute its percent difference if necessary.

The process is illustrated in figure 25. Note that the tentative shift adjustment listed on form 9-207 (list of discharge measurements) for a specific discharge measurement is final only if the shift curve and V diagram are drawn through that measurement's plotted points. The shift curve in figure 25 averages 42 and 43, so the originally computed shifts (+0.05 and -0.07) must be changed to the values from the V diagram (-0.02 and -0.02) that are used to compute the discharge record. The shift curve and V diagrams go through the measurement 44 and 45 values, so no revisions to their shift adjustments are necessary on form 9-207.

The coordinates of the finished V diagram are entered into the ADP system as described in the WATSTORE User's Guide. For manually computed records, the shift adjustments are taken from the V diagram or table and entered on form 9-192a or the recorder chart.

Shift adjustments varied with time and stage

One stage-shift V diagram, modified to fit the day-to-day shifting caused by changes to the control, is used to vary the shift distribution simultaneously with time and stage for primary computations by ADP or, with modifications, for manually computed records. This procedure can also be used for updating ADP records if the base and shift curves are roughly parallel. It



FIGURE 25.—Development of a stage-shift-variation diagram.

should not be used to correct the effect of an erroneously shaped base rating used for the primary computation. In that event, manual computation of the updated figures or rerunning the primary computations is necessary.

ADP procedure

The computer program details and the data input format are explained in the WATSTORE User's Guide. The data requirements, in addition to the usual material for a primary or update computation, are (1) the descriptors for a basic V diagram; (2) the dates, gage heights, and shift adjustments of most of the discharge measurements with gage heights within the V diagram range (ice measurements, disregarded measurements, and measurements, disregarded measurements, and measurements outside the V diagram limits or inside but close to the limits are not used); and (3) the dates, gage heights, and shift adjustments of arbitrary data points (synthetic discharge-measurement data used to control the time-varied distribution). The program expands, contracts, or reverses one basic V diagram to generate a perfectly fitting and proportionally shaped diagram for each day of a discharge measurement or arbitrary data point. The V diagrams for the other days are interpolated, linearly with time, between the data point diagrams and are used to compute an appropriate shift adjustment for each recorded gage height.

The procedure for distributing time- and stage-variable shifts requires considerable judgment and is relatively simple for some gages and very intricate for others. One procedure for analysis of a typical distribution, suggested for the first few uses by a hydrographer with limited experience in rigorous shift distribution, is illustrated in figure 26 and outlined as follows:

1. Develop the base rating by the usual method and compute the measurement-defined shift adjustments.



FIGURE 26.-Development of a time-varied stage-shift diagram.

- 2. Use the largest practical rectangular graph paper worksheet and plot the shift-prone portion of the base-rating curve on it. Also, plot the shift adjustments for the measurements to a suitable scale near the right margin.
- 3. Select the most appropriate V-diagram shape and the upper, base, and lower gage heights for the diagram. Base the selections on a scrutiny of the logarithmic work-curve sheet of the base rating and knowledge of the control characteristics of the stream.
- 4. Plot a trial basic V-diagram on the rectangular worksheet so that the diagram is outside the greatest shift adjustment and its base shift is 1.0-, 0.5-, or 0.1-ft (-0.5 ft in figure 26).
- 5. Draw an intermediate V diagram, a widened or narrowed version of the basic diagram, through the greatest shift (July 18 in figure 26). Plot the corresponding shift curve on the worksheet. If the shift-curve shape is unsatisfactory, revise the V diagram gage heights or shape until a satisfactory shift curve is obtained.
- 6. Identify any measurements, such as 42 and 43 in figure 26, that are so close to a limit of the V-diagram range that an intermediate diagram drawn through one would be unreasonable at some stages. Draw the most reasonable intermediate diagram for such a measurement and note the shift from the the diagram at the gage height of the measurement (-0.02 ft at 4.10 ft for measurement 43 in figure 26) and also the shift at the base gage height (-0.20 ft at 2.1 ft in figure 26). The base gage-height shift will be used as an arbitrary data point (see step 7), and the shift (-0.02 ft) for the measurement gage height will be used on form 9-207 (fig. 10) to compute the measurements percent difference.
- 7. Select arbitrary data points to modify the linear interpolation of intermediate V diagrams between the times of discharge measurements if desired. If an arbitrary data point with the same gage height and shift as the preceding or following data point is inserted, the V diagram and shift curve will be held constant between the two dates. Assuming that the gage-height

record for the example in figure 26 showed rises on May 7, July 1, and August 12, arbitrary data points (May 6, 2.63, -0.10; May 8, 2.3, -0.20; June 30, 2.3, -0.20; July 2, 2.13, -0.30; August 11, 2.13, -0.30; August 30, 1.70, +0.10) could be added to the measurement-defined points. The corresponding shift distribution would be equivalent to using one shift curve for May 1-6, another for May 7 to June 30, another for July 1 to August 11, and still another for August 12–27. This would be the most logical shift distribution for a stream with a gravel control that changes only during rises. Without the arbitrary points, the time shift between measurements would be the most logical shift distribution for a sand channel. Arbitrary data points can be based on the hydrographer's judgment, the gage observer's notes, or the gage-height record appearance.

8. Enter the data for the measurement-defined shifts and arbitrary data points (omit measurements that were disregarded, ice affected, outside the V-diagram range, or too close to the V-diagram limits) as instructed the WATSTORE User's Guide.

Shortcuts in the above procedure are practical for experienced hydrographers, and other approaches, more or less detailed, may be superior for use at some stations. The procedure is designed for primary computations but can also be applied to most updates.

Manual procedure

The distribution of shifts graduated with time and stage can be made for manually computed records in much the same way as they are with ADP. A V diagram for manual use can be either curvilinear or composed of straight lines and may be either a graph or a table. The widening or narrowing of the manual version of a V diagram is done by applying a coefficient to the V-diagram shifts. The magnitude of the coefficient at the time of a discharge measurement is the measurement-indicated shift divided by the V-diagram shift. The coefficients for each day are obtained from a graph somewhat similar to the time-shift V diagram in figure 21 and are applied



to the shift adjustments obtained from the basic stage-shift V diagram. The resulting shift adjustments are entered on form 9-192a (fig. 21) or on the recorder chart (fig. 15) and used to compute the daily discharges.

Figure 27 illustrates the use of coefficients to generate intermediate V diagrams to fit the individual discharge measurements.

Records from digital recorders

Digital recorder tape segments are processed individually by a "primary computation." This process converts the punched values into a listing similar to figure 28, usually called the primary computation sheet, or "PPO." The discharge figures are tentative, and the gageheight figures are usually final. The printed figures are scanned manually for evidence of equipment malfunction, edited and corrected where necessary, and used in an "update" computation to produce either a corrected record of daily discharges or, at the end of the year, the final record (fig. 29) that is used as a page of the published record.

Primary computation

The punched-tape segment, rating descriptors or table, and information regarding datum corrections and shift adjustments are entered into the ADP system by using the formats prescribed in the WATSTORE User's Guide. The program applies each recorded instantaneous gage height, modified by any datum and shift adjustments, to the rating and obtains the instantaneous discharge. The average of all the instantaneous gage heights (corrected for datum error) and discharges for each day are printed (fig. 28). This procedure subdivides every day into segments one-punch interval long regardless of the range in stage. The daily mean gage heights are adjusted for the effect of subdivision, and the adjusted values are printed as "equivalent gage heights." Daily discharges can usually be revised later, without reprocessing the recorder tapes, by applying a different rating or revised-shift adjustments to the equivalent gage heights. A daily discharge computed from an equivalent gage height and revised rating is practically the same as one that would be computed by rerunning the primary computation with that rating if the revised and original rating curves (or shift curves, if used) have roughly similar shapes. The few exceptions include all days with periods of zero flow indicated by either the primary or update effective ratings and a few days where the primary or update effective ratings are practically the same at the equivalent gage height but not at other gage heights recorded during that day. Discharges for these days may be computed manually or by rerunning the recorder tapes.

A primary computation is a rapid and simple operation if the equipment functions properly, the datum correction is well defined, and the discharge rating remains stable throughout the period. Equipment problems such as faulty punching, or float tape or cable jumping its splines, make the task much more difficult. These problems can be minimized by careful field maintenance and the use of surge chains or other devices to maintain tension in the float tape while the recorder is locked for punching. The datum correction needs careful consideration before each primary computation because the only way that a subsequent change can be reflected in the printed list of gage heights is to rerun the primary computation.

A primary computation is normally made as soon as possible after the removal of the recorder tape to provide a readable gage-height record for the identification of any recorder malfunctions. The computed discharges—final, approximate, or grossly in error—will normally be stored in the WATSTORE Daily Values File until the update process. Several protection options described in the WATSTORE User's Guide are available to prevent a user from retrieving erroneous data from the daily records file.

Many primary computations can be run in such a way that the discharge figures will be useful or even final. For those few gaging stations where the discharge rating is stable and shift adjustments are not needed, the primary computation will usually generate final discharge records without any special effort. If the high and medium parts of the discharge rating are stable and the low-water part shifts only during substantial rises, use the latest

COMPUTATION OF CONTINUOUS RECORDS OF STREAMFLOW



FIGURE 27.-Use of stage shift-variation diagram coefficients to fit shift curves to discharge measurements.

rating and a time-varied V diagram as illustrated in figure 26. Change the shift pattern only during the highest rise between discharge measurements, the most logical time for a change in low-water shifts. Some ratings shift erratically at all stages. The shifting is usually more rapid during rises than during low-water periods. Interpolation of shifts with time and stage is practical for the primary computation of some such stations where weekly or more frequent measurements are made. Otherwise, the records for very unstable channels are most easily processed by using the latest rating without any shift adjusments. Then a hydrograph of the resulting discharge records, undistorted by incorrect shifts, will be used as a guide when the updating is done with final shift adjustments based on additional data (gage heights, records for other stations, hydrograph appearance, and so forth) as shown in figure 22.

The primary computation sheet, edited as will be described in the section on "updating," contains most of the information for an ADP record that form 9–192a (fig. 21) and recorder charts (fig. 15) show for a graphic-recorder station. It should be treated and preserved accordingly.

TECHNIQUES OF WATER-RESOURCES INVESTIGATIONS

			ı	UNITED S	TATES C	EPARIMENT O PRIMARY	F INTERI	DR ION	- GEOL	GE PET	SUR V SHTS	EY -	NATER ISCHA	RESO RGE	URCES	0111	5 I O N		STA	TE 21	DIST	21
	e e	13289*00 1.KHORN C	REEK NEI	AR FRANK	FORT. K		0.41	IA P	ROCESS	ED 09-1	U9~81	SE AT	15									
		ROVISION	AL DATA	FCR LAT	ER YEAR	ENCING SEP	T. 30. 1	981	TE S	1 DIFF	0.2	PUNC	H 197	60	MIN	STORE	PARM	0006	0. ST	1151	10 00	003
													C. 18	NUM		S OF	FFFT.	47 1	NDICA	TED H	DURS	
D	ATE	MAX GH	MIN GH	MEAN	ECUIN	DISCH	ADJ	HR	CORR	HR	1	2	".	4	5	6	7		9	10	11	12
				•																	35.0	38.0
		(1300)	(0100)				- 11				252	252 258	252	263	263	252	251	263	263	263	263	262
	5-12	2.63	2.53	2.60	2.60	1/5	13			PP	262	260	259	259	258	258	258	258	257	257	256	256
	5-13	2.56	2.46	2+51	2.52	154	141			AP	256	255	255	255	254	254	254	254	254	254	254	253
		(0100)	(2000)							PP	252	251	251	250	249	248	247	245	245	245	245	245
	5-14	2.46	2.41	2+45	2.45	132	14				245	245	245	2 . 5	245	245	243	242	242	2+1	2 4 1	241
	5-15	2.68	2.41	2.46	2.47	1+0	14			AP	241	2+1	241	241	2+1	241	241	241	242	242	243	243
		(2300)	(0100)							PH	243	243	243	243	243	243	240	200	263	201	600	200
				2.44	2.64	191	r - 13			AH	268	270	270	269	26 B	268	267	266	265	264	263	262
	2-16	(0200)	(1500)	2.00		• / •				PH	596	259	258	258	258	259	262	264	266	267	267	267
	5-17	2.68	2+50	5.20	2.08	17.	- • 1 3	•		A 14	268	268	268	266	265	253	25.2	251	251	250	250	250
		(0100)	(2200)	2.54	2.53	161	13			AH	249	249	248	247	247	246	246	247	246	246	246	246
	5-14	(2400)	(0600)					-		PH	246	246	246	246	246	250	263	268	276	280	264	297
	5-19	6.71	3.84	4.98	5.05	1450	02			41	38 •	459	489	493	487	476	472	469 574	465	616	650	671
		(2400)	(010()			1100				41	617	679	680	677	669	659	652	646	644	646	649	650
	5-21	(0300)	(2400)	6.43		2100				PH	651	647	643	€35	631	624	620	613	609	604	600	596
	5-23	5.92 (0100)	4.82	5.37	5.38	+700-17/0		• •		PH	592 530	586	580 521	116	574	565	563	498	494	490	485	482
	5-22	4.79	4.14	4.47	4.48		0 - 	• *	03	 	479	475	4/2	438	434	434	429	424	421	419	416	414
	5-23	5 4.14	3.69	3.52	3.92	-+++ 765	9	• •	04	AH	414	411	409	4 0 7	404	402	400	398	396	395	393	392
		(0100)	(2400)				7		05	PH	390	389	363	385	360	358	357	355	353	352	351	351
	5-24	3.67	3.35	3.51	3.51	-+++ 37,	/	• •	05	PH	349	348	347	346	345	343	3+1	340	338	338	336	335
	5-25	5 3.33	3.08	3.20	3.20	+++ 44	9	4 4	06	A.11	333	332	339	328	327	327	325	323	322	322	320	320
		(0100)	(2+00)				 			PH	318	317	316	316	315	303	313	302	301	301	300	299
	5-21	5 3.07	2+96	3.00	3.00			• '	•/	PM	299	298	297	296	296	296	296	296	296	296	296	296
	5-2	7 4.06	2.96	3.30	3.34	+++ 50	7 -+++	* *	06	AH	296	296	298	299	299	299	301	302	302	302	302	302
		(2200)	(0100)							PH	304	304	304	307	380	392	384	392	403	6.79	688	495
•	5-2	8 6.90	4.20	6+50	6.26	2510				Pl	684	673	661	650	639	629	625	623	624	624	623	622
	5-2	9 6.19	4.72	5.42	5.+5	+764 / 77	o -+++	• •	0	A14	619	611	605	599	594	582	573	565	557	550	543	536
		(0100)	(2400)							P 4	529	522	517	514	507	502	497	492	467	439	437	434
	5-3	0 4.70	4.04	4.36	4.37	-966-/02	0	• '	03		431	429	427	424	422	120	418	416	+13	409	407	404
	5-3	1 4.29	3.07	4.04	4.05	+++- 83	7+7	÷,	- 04		403	402	399	397	395	393	391	391	391	371	390	388
	-	(1700)	(1300)			400				101	AL (CFS-0	2 Y Y Z	186	••			-10				
																					••••	100
	6-0	• • • • •	3.95	4.03	4.03	+++ 82	8	• •	04	4 H	414	414	414	.414	413	412	410	408	407	396	397	398
	6-0	(0100) 2 4,90	11400)	4.46	4.47	1020 / OB	0	÷.,	03		399	403	409	+10	+10	410	409	413	425	446	462	470
FE	F1CD	6.90	2.26						PECO	CER CI	. o c ĸ	RUNNI	NG D	.9 MI	NUTES	PER	DAY S	LOW.	RECO	RD 40	JUSTE	٥.
NO'	f .	\$YP8CL6 # - 10C F - 14I	USEC AEC CESSIVE Ly Summa	IVE FAVE ACULSTE IRY IS F	THE FC C FUNCH CR AN I	LLCWING MEAN REACINGS D NCOMPLETE D	NINGS Iffer et Ay	×0	IRE THAT	. THE :	SPEC I	FIED		48L E	TEST	0 [F F C	RENCE					

R = ONF OR FORE "NPUT VALUE IS CUISIDE THE RANGE OF THE RATING IN USE L = Knift is a value vertoned of eischarge where shift varts with stage during the day λ = cuit varts with stage over alter

STAGE-SHIFT VARIATION DIAGRAM EFFECTIVE 81-04-20 HIGH PCINT 0 SHIFT AT GH 3.5 BASE -.15 SHIFT AT GH 2.2 LOW FDINT -.15 SHIFT AT GH .01

FIGURE 28.—Primary computation sheet.

Notes for station analysis

Notes to be included in the "station analysis." described in a subsequent section, should be written when each primary computation sheet is received. The datum correction paragraph notes are updated to reflect the corrections included in each set of primary computation supplementary data. Any changes in location or equipment should be described in the paragraph headed "Equipment." All irregularities in the gage-height record, such as timer failure or faulty-intake action, should be discussed and listed by dates in the "Gageheight record" paragraph. The ratings used for the primary work should be listed in the "Rating" paragraph and their adequacy described. Shift distribution and V-diagram use should be explained in the "Discharge" paragraph. The notes will be consolidated when the final update is made.

Updating

STATE 21 DIST 21

The update is a procedure that follows the primary computation and uses one or more subsequent passes of daily data through the computer to correct errors in the primary computation caused by faulty gage-height record, ice effect, erroneous shift adjustments, or datum corrections. Updated discharges can be computed manually and substituted for the primary discharges, or, for some periods, computed entirely by ADP. Preparation of data for updating is described in the WATSTORE User's Guide.

Before starting to update a period of record, which may be as short as a month or as long as a year, retrieve a hydrograph similar to the one in figure 30 from the WATSTORE Daily Values File (hydrograph details are discussed in a subsequent section) or plot one from the primary computation sheet discharges. Plot the disDISCHARGE. IN CUBIC FEET PER SECOND. WATER YEAR OCTOBER 1977 TO SEPTEMBER 1978 MEAN VALUES

DAY	OCT	NOV	DEC	JAN	FEB	MAR	APR	HAY	JUN	JUL	AUG	5EP
1	12	14	54	35	30	52	263	165	166	134	40	27
5	11	26	592	25	30	49	233	172	168	144	39	26
3	11	15	343	28	30	47	203	176	210	134	36	27
4	11	14	201	30	30	47	186	166	240	122	37	27
5	11	14	146	35	33	46	168	154	265	114	36	29
6	11	14	136	38	35	•44	156	147	273	107	36	33
7	12	13	119	38	38	51	146	149	252	104	35	28
8	11	11	101	40	38	60	138	165	245	98	33	27
9	11	13	92	40	42	62	133	186	237	92	33	42
10	11	14	90	4 1	39	74	344	199	210	86	33	39
11	11	15	11+	42	36	84	159	184	186	82	33	31
12	11	14	108	43	42	84	156	170	176	77	33	29
13	11	14	330	+1	38	84	151	178	170	74	33	28
14	10	15	528	41	37	82	144	199	163	70	31	27
15	10	17	406	+2	35	82	139	186	151	68	33	26
16	10	16	290	40	33	86	144	176	144	76	32	25
17	9.9	11	230	39	33	107	131	174	146	66	31	25
18	10	9.9	184	7 د	33	147	158	176	151	63	31	25
19	9.9	7.0	154	37	4 ی	166	128	192	156	6]	31	25
20	9.9	4.0	133	36	36	184	128	226	152	59	31	25
21	9.9	3.0	122	36	39	221	122	242	152	56	32	25
22	10	3.0	112	35	43	258	118	235	149	53	33	24
23	11	5.0	101	33	49	295	114	205	144	51	29	25
24	11	8.0	93	32	57	276	109	184	142	50	36	25,
25	12	15	85	33	59	260	115	170	133	48	35	24
26	11	25	80	32	58	265	138	161	128	50	31	23
27	11	33	75	31	57	265	161	158	127	49	30	22
28	11	35	70	31	55	281	168	166	127	46	28	22
29	13	52	65	30		304	172	163	139	44	28	22
30	14	39	60	30		318	172	158	136	43	28	22
31	12		55	30		298		159		4 1	28	
TOTAL	340.6	488.9	5269	1101	1119	4679	4564	5541	5258	2362	1017	805
MEAN	11.0	16.3	170	35.5	40.0	151	152	179	175	76.2	32.8	26.8
MAX	14	52	592	43	59	318	263	242	273	144	40	42
MIN	9.9	3.0	5+	25	30	44	109	147	127	41	28	22
CF5M	.16	•24	2.47	.52	.58	2.19	2.21	2.60	2.54	1.11	.48	. 39
IN.	.18	.26	2.84	.59	.00	2.53	2.46	2.99	2.84	1.28	.55	.43
AC-FT	676	970	10450	2180	2220	9280	9050	10990	10430	4690	2020	1600
CAL YR WTR YR	1977 TOTA 1978 TOTA	L 10643.3	MEAN	29.2	MAX 592	NIN 3.0	CFSH .42	IN	5.75 AC-FT	21110		

FIGURE 29.-Final discharge record printout.

charge measurements as colored circles on the appropriate days. The hydrograph will indicate any periods that may need attention and provide clues about the dates of rating shifts.

Assemble the primary computation sheets for the period to be updated. Check the starting and ending days against the prior and subsequent sheets for continuity or agreement with discharge-measurement notes when changes were made to the control. Scrutinize the hourly gage-height lists, especially those for days labeled "A" or "R," (fig. 28) for mispunches or incorrectly read punches. Look for sudden changes in stage or long periods of no change that could indicate recorder failure or plugged intakes. Check the discharge hydrograph for odd-looking periods (recession curve lower after a rise than before, recession faster than rise, and similar inconsistencies), and if any questionable periods are found, study the corresponding gage

heights and shift adjustments to find the reason. Check the datum corrections listed on the primary computation sheet against the station analysis paragraph. See that each change (resetting) to the principal gage is reflected by a change in continuity of the punched-gage heights and that the applied correction restores the continuity and agrees with the station analysis. Resolve any minor differences by accepting the primary computation to avoid unnecessary rerunning of the tapes for the affected periods.

Decide whether the ratings and shift adjustments used for the primary computation are adequate or if updating is needed for all or part of the record. Check the shift-adjustment computations for all periods whose discharge records are acceptable. Those for other periods will not be used and need not be checked. Prepare new ratings and V diagrams (if used) for periods that will be recomputed and have them checked by another hydrographer. Try the new rating or shift adjustments by making a manual computation every 10th day or so and for about 2 days immediately before and after any periods that will be estimated.

Fill in the discharges for periods of ice effect or no gage-height record (more about these special computations later). Treat periods of particularly erratic shift-adjustment distribution as periods of no gage-height record.

When the data for the updating process (ratings, shift distributions, and substituted discharges) are ready to prepare for computer input, the final hydrograph position should be sketched in, on the basis of manually computed values for occasional days, so there will be no surprises in the final record.

Have all computations for ratings, percent differences, shift adjustments, and substituted values checked before running the update. Obtain a new hydrograph from the WATSTORE Daily Values File after the update results have been stored. Plot the discharge measurements on the new hydrograph and scan it for any mistakes that may have survived the previous checking.

After the update is complete and all figures are final, update the primary computation sheet neatly in ink as shown in figure 28. The entries should include all of the discharges changed by recomputation or substitution, the revised shift adjustments, and the gage heights from backup recorders or graphs. If any datum corrections were revised after the primary computation, rerunning the tapes is normally more convenient than manual entry of all the related changes. The edited primary computation sheet should represent the final record as published, and any figures that are formally revised in the future will be shown on this sheet.

Records from graphic recorders

During previously described operations, the form 9-192a (fig. 21) was partially completed by listing the daily mean gage heights. The subdivided-day gage heights were computed and checked on the recorder charts. The shift adjustments, if used, must be distributed and listed on form 9-192a and on the chart's subdivision tabulations. Discharge for all but the specially computed periods (ice effect, missing record, and so forth) can then be computed from the rating table and entered on form 9-192a. Discharges likely to be changed (winter months and tentative shift adjustments, for instance) may be entered in pencil, and the others may be entered directly in ink.

Discharge-measurement numbers are usually written on form 9-192a in the space for the day on which they were made, and shift adjustments may be written as shown in figure 21. The symbol "v" indicates that the shift varied during the day. Tentative figures previously penciled in are inked after they are checked and accepted as final.

Distribution of small shift adjustments, with time and stage, can be made by inspection directly on form 9–192a. Large or complex shiftadjustment distribution is best done with V diagrams and coefficients. If a new rating is started in use on October 1, a smooth transition between discharge records for the end of the previous year and the start of the current year must be maintained. One useful transition method is to treat the previous September 30 gage height and discharge as a discharge measurement. Compute the applicable shift adjustment for that day and distribute the adjustment between September 30 and the first discharge measurement of the current year.

All computations including shift-adjustment distribution, shift curves, and the subdivided days must be checked by a second hydrographer who initials and dates form 9-192a in the appropriate space. The monthly figures, except daily discharge totals, are left blank. They will be computed by ADP when the final update is made and may be copied onto form 9-192a at that time if the district considers them necessary.

Records from nonrecording gages

The process used to compute and check the discharge computations for nonrecording gages is identical to that for graphic recorders.

Discharge hydrographs

A semilogarithmic plot of daily discharges. similar to that in figure 30, depicts the day-today variations in discharge in an easy-to-see form, revealing some of the errors in basic data. computations, or shift distribution. It is one of the most valuable tools available for quick assessment of record consistency and is indispensable for estimating discharges for periods of ice effect or missing gage-height record. The records for several stations in an area can be compared by placing their hydrographs on a light table and shifting the individual sheets to obtain the best fit. The discharge hydrograph for a manually computed record can be plotted while the discharge figures are being computed. In this way, the effects of the shift distribution can be studied as the discharge points are plotted. An automatically plotted hydrograph of the discharge figures in the WATSTORE Daily Values File at any time can be retrieved (see WATSTORE User's Guide). Interim hydrographs, automatically plotted, of primary computation figures are particularly useful in the update process, and an automatically plotted final hydrograph is always preferable to a manually plotted version for use as the permanent file copy. Show normally computed records as a black line, estimates in color, and discharge measurements as colored circles on the final hydrograph.

National Weather Service records of daily maximum and minimum temperatures and daily precipitation are used in the discharge computations for periods of ice effect. Figure 31 illustrates one convenient format for weather records. Prints of the form provide worksheets for stations in the area of the weather station, with space to plot the winter hydrograph on a rectangular grid which is convenient for some applications.

Periods of no gage-height record

Discharge for periods of equipment malfunction or unusual stream conditions (backwater from leaves, debris, or tributaries) where the gage-height record cannot be used directly must be estimated, usually by one of the methods described in Water-Supply Paper 2175 (Rantz and others, 1982). These methods involve the use of some combination of interpolation, reconstruction of missing gage-height records, and the use of records for other stations, power plant generation records, reservoir records, and weather records. The estimated figures are entered on form 9–192a or into the ADP update process by substitution.

Periods of ice effect

The presence of ice at a stream's control causes the gage height to indicate flow greater than the actual discharge. The computation of discharge for a period when the stream was frozen is a complex and highly subjective process, different for each section of the country. Water-Supply Paper 2175 describes the freezing phenomenon in detail and explains the discharge computation methods that apply under many conditions. The figures so computed are substituted for those previously entered on form 9–192a or are included in the updating of digital recorder records.

Station Analysis

The station analysis, illustrated in figure 32, is a complete and formal discussion of the data collected for the current year. It details the amount and kind of data, its probable accuracy. and the method used for processing it. Notes for inclusion in each section should be written, by the hydrographers who actually analyzed that part of the record, when the work is done. For example, the gage-height record section notes will generally be prepared by the individuals who made the primary computations or copied the gage heights on form 9-192b, the rating section by the individuals who analyzed the rating, and so forth. The hydrographer who prepares the final update for the water year reviews these notes and writes the station analysis. The checker should always review the entire analvsis carefully. It should be written clearly and concisely. Additional sections may be added to suit local needs, but the analysis must include the following six general headings:





FIGURE 30.-Semilogarithmic hydrograph.

Equipment.—Start with a short statement telling the type of recorder, principal gage, and shelter. List the permanent structures outside the gage, such as outside gages, cableways and concrete controls that affect the record quality. Mention all changes in equipment and the dates.

Gage-height record.—Make a general statement about the accuracy and continuity of the gage-height record, listing all periods of missing record and the reasons for them. For a period of clock stoppage, tell if a range in stage was available or if a graph was drawn based on the observer's gage readings. List the dates for which daily gage readings are available. Mention any periods for which the record is doubtful or poor because of lagging intakes, plugged orifice, insensitive manometer, or other causes and whether the doubtful record was used. If there is more than one recorder at a station, tell which recorder was used for what period to compute the discharge record. Datum and gage-height corrections.—Insert the gage-height correction material prepared as previously described if necessary.

Rating .- Give a brief description of the control and channel as they pertain to the current year's record. Next give the total number of measurements made during the year, their serial numbers, and the range in discharge of the measurements made during the year. Tell which were affected by ice or other unusual conditions. Explain the rest of the measurements, either individually or in groups, in terms of how they plotted with respect to the rating or ratings used during the year and why. If a new rating is drawn, state the basis for doing so. Give the reason for not drawing a new rating when one seems warranted. Explain anything out of the ordinary to help someone unfamiliar with the station to understand the situation.

Discharge.—For a digital recorder station, use a separate paragraph for a brief description of the primary computations, giving the ratings







FIGURE 30.-Semilogarithmic hydrograph-Continued.

and types of shift adjustments used. Discuss the adequacy of the primary discharge records and the reasons for accepting or rejecting them as final records. In the opening sentence of the update paragraph (first paragraph for graphic recorder and nonrecording stations) state which ratings were used for the final discharge figures and their periods of use. Give the coordinates of the V diagrams used unless that information is shown elsewhere, such as on an ADP printout. List the periods for which special discharge computations (ice, missing record, or backwater) were used and give the basis for the computations. Explain all unusual features of the discharge record.

Remarks.—Give the general accuracy of the record. A rating of excellent means that about 95 percent of the daily discharges are correct within 5 percent; good, within 10 percent; and fair, within 15 percent. Poor means that daily discharges have less than fair accuracy. If some period is considerably below the rest in overall accuracy because of a lack of supporting data or because of a special method of computation, that period should be noted and rated lower in accuracy. The accuracy rating assigned in the station analysis must agree with the accuracy rating in the station manuscript.

Progress Documentation

Use some type of form to indicate the completion of each step in the record computation by a check mark, initials, or shading of an area and to ensure that the work is being done systematically and completely. The format of the sheet used depends on the type of gage and the procedures adopted by the field office to collect the data and compute the record. Figure 33 illustrates one type of progress form that can be



. .

FIGURE 31.—Rectangular hydrograph and weather-record plot.

TECHNIQUES OF WATER-RESOURCES INVESTIGATIONS



STATION ANALYSIS

1979-80

etj <mark>Equipment.--Digital recorder in 5'-4" concrete block house and well with cableway 300 ft upstream. Local observer inspects Rage weekly. No</mark> Gage-height record.--Fisher-Porter digital recorder (principal gage), checked by an electric tape (reference gage), furnished an excellent record for the entire year except for December 9-20, when the recorder was stopped by battery failure. The observer made daily electric tape readings becember 14-19 and the resulting graph was satisfactory gage-height record.

Datum and Rage-height corrections.--Results of levels are summarized on an attached sheet. Rased on these levels, the datum correction used on September 30, 1979, notes made when a surge chain at the recorder float was untangled, and Rage-height record evidence of the most likely time that the chain hecame tangled, the following corrections were applied

.

	uz Levelsgage reset	Surgemost likely time of tours	Chain untangled: Ght drowned .or s		
) hrs)	hrs)	hrs)	hrs)	hrs)	
, ,	(143(UEEU)	(1415) (2400	
October 1, 1979	November 6, 1979	December 11, 1979	January 3, 1980	September 30, 1980	COLTect (and

were applied to other gages. lons ž

Rating.--The channel, about 20 ft wide at low flow, 120 ft wide at bankfull stage (12 ft), and 600 ft wide during floods, has stable wooded banks and a loose rock and gravel bed. The rocky gravel riffle collects debris and supports alge growth but is otherwise stable for long periods. Seven current-meter and one observation of no flow were made during the year. Six additional observations of no flow were made by the observer. The measurements cover the entire range of flow during the water year.

The discharge measurements indicate that a low-water shift from last year's rating (no. 8) occurred during the September 3, 1979, rise and that the high-water portion of that rating needs minor revision in order to fit the recent slope-area measurement. Bating no. 9 was developed on the hasis of the current data and is identical to rating no. 8 hereen 2.2 and 18 ft stages. The new rating is well defined throughout and resonably consistent with all prior high-water ratings, so revisions to past records are unnecesary. The 1979 records for September, with the shift diverties used agree closely with rating no. 9.

icharge.--(Primary computations). Primary computations were run using rating no. 8, extended to 27 ft to cover the February 19 peak, with the V-diagrams shown on the primary computation sheets. All gage heights listed are final values. Most of the discharge figures were recomputed from the equivalent gage heights in the updating. Discharge.--(Primary computations).

(Update). Rating no. 9 was used for the entire year. A V-diagram (2.0, -0.05; 6.1, -0.05; 8.0, 0) was used from February 19 to May 9 for stage-only distribution and from June 1 to September 30 for stage and time distribution of shift adjustments. Frimary computation discharges for days whose gage heights were all between 8 and 18 ft are equivalent to those from rating no. 9 and were used without revision.

Discharge for the periods of ice effect (December 19 to February 16) was computed on the basis of one discharge measurement, gage heights, weather records and records for nearby stations.

Discharge for periods of no gage-height record (December 10-13) was estimated on the basis of weather records and records for nearby stations.

Remarks.--Records are good except those for December and January, which are

12-1-80 12-4-80	
P. T. Spalding R. S. Sands	
Prepared Checkeđ	

FIGURE 32.-Station analysis.

Sta. No. _____

PROGRESS CHECKLIST

COMPUTATION OF DIGITAL RECORDER RECORDS

, Station

Station_____ Water Year_____

	PRIMARY COMPUTATIONS
	Review disch. msts check ghts with tape Review tape for continuity with previous tape Update datum correction and apply to tape headers and meas. List discharge msts. and remarks on 9-207 Plot disch. msts. (worksheet) - if rating is OK, skip a line Prepare discriptors for new rating - obtain RATLIST Compute shift adjustments and percent diff. Prepare or update V-diagram - distribute shifts Update station analysis notes
	Transmit tapes and supplemental data - obtain hydrograph
	UPDATE
	<pre>Plot disch. msts. on prim. comp. hydrograph Review levels data. Update datum correct. Rerun P.C. if necess. Review P.C. sheets (continuity and agreement with meas.) Review rating. If P.C. rating is satisfactory, skip three lines Prepare new work curve sheet Prepare descriptors for new rating - obtain RATLIST Recompute shifts and % for update period msts. Update old or prepare new V-diagram Distribute shift adjustments Rough in final hydrograph position on P.C. hydrograph Compute ice, missing, and other special computation records Update station analysis notes Check the above work Prepare station analysis final copy (typed) Check final station analysis Prepare master curve sheet Transmit update material - request hydrograph Plot meas. on new hydrograph</pre>
	FINAL ASSEMBLY
	Compute and list peak disch., min. disch., and aver. disch. Prepare manuscript and annual report page copy Check above work
	QUALITY CONTROL
	Prepare basin comparison (monthly records) Check comparison
ByDate	Broad review (all records)
	Intensive review with memorandum (selected records)

FIGURE 33.-Typical progress form.

used for digital recorder stations whose primary computations are run currently and updated monthly, quarterly, or annually. Equivalent forms for graphic-recorder stations are simpler, and more elaborate forms can be designed to indicate the percent completion of each record at any time.

Quality Assurance

The quality of a station record depends to a large extent on natural conditions at the site and the management practices used to obtain the best records with the available manpower

and equipment. The adequacy of a record can be gaged to some extent by having an experienced hydrographer review the process used to obtain the data and compute the record. The reviewer ensures that approved methods were used throughout or that locally devised procedures were proper. All records should receive a brief review by a hydrographer not involved in the computations. A few records (5-10 percent of the total) should be thoroughly reviewed, and a memorandum of review prepared by a supervisor each year. An outside (regional, other district, or headquarters) assessment of technical operations is provided about every other vear and includes a thorough review of a sampling of the gaging-station records.

Parts of most discharge computations depend on subjective judgment, especially for rating extensions, shift distribution, and estimates. Substantial errors are usually apparent from hydrographic comparison of each station record with others from the same general area. A basin comparison of monthly and annual discharges may provide a good check for major errors. Figure 34 illustrates the simplest type of basin comparison, one that can be used in a relatively humid area where the runoff from gaged areas is comparable to that from ungaged areas. A table of monthly discharges for all stations in a basin is arranged in downstream order. The monthly discharges must be adjusted for travel time between adjacent stations by advancing the downstream station period by an estimated number of days. The runoff figures (in cubic feet per second per square mile) for tributary stations are listed and those for ungaged areas are computed, listed, and underlined. If the gaging station records are free from gross errors, the underlined runoff figures will ordinarily be comparable to the other figures in the column.

The discharge of streams in arid areas does not increase uniformly downstream and may decrease in certain reaches. The gains or losses in monthly flow between stations do not indicate the reliability of records for this type of stream, and other assessments based on knowledge of the hydrology of the region must be made.

If the assessment procedure identifies the records for a very poor site as dubious, alternatives to collecting daily discharge records there should be considered.

References Cited

- Carter, R. W., and Anderson, I. E., 1963, Accuracy of current-meter measurements: American Society of Civil Engineers Journal, v. 89, no. HY4, p. 105-115.
- Follansbee, R., 1938, A history of the Water Resources Branch of the United States Geological Survey to June 30, 1919: Washington, D.C., privately printed, 459 p.
- Hutchinson, N. E., and others, 1975 (v. 1), WATSTORE User's Guide: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 75-426, Reston, Va., 523 p.
- Hutchinson, N. E., and others, 1980 (v. 5), WATSTORE User's Guide: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-729-I, Reston, Va., 357 p.

BASIN COMPARISON (Portion of Ohio River Basin in Illinois - 1977-78 Water Year)

		Dr.	lime Advance	0	c t .	Nov	v.]	Wat
Ohio River Basin		Area	(days)	cfs	csm	cfs	csm	1	cfs
П	Wabash River Basin (continued)	1	1			1	t	1 1	
2	Little Wabash - Effingham	240	0	62.4	.26	34.5	.14		237
3	Ungaged [4 - 2]	505	1	94.6	.19	142	.28		531
4	Little Wabash - Louisville	745	+1	157		177		1	768
5	Ungaged [6 - 4]	386	l	108	.28	50	.13		277
6	Little Wabash - Clay City	1131	+1	265		227			1045
7		ł	1	_					1 2010
8	Skillet Fk. – Iuka	208	+1	28.4	.14	87.3			181
9	Horse Cr Keene	97.2	+1	8.1	.09	26.5	1		83.9
10	Ungaged [11-(8 + 9)]	159	1	20.1	.13	56.2	.35	1 1	126
11	Skillet Fk Wayne City	464	+2	56.6		170			391
12	Ungaged [13 -(6 + 11)]	1507		391	.26	570	. 38		1286
13	Little Wabash - Carmi	3102	+4	713		967			2722
14	Little Wabash - Carmi	3102	0	821	.27	584	.19	1 1	2722
15	(continued)		l i			1	ł	1	



FIGURE 34.-Basin comparison of monthly and annual runoff.



- Kennedy, E. J., 1982, Discharge ratings at gaging stations: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water Resources Investigations, book 3, Chap. A-10 (in press).
- Rantz, S. E., and others, 1982, Computation of discharge: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2175 (2 vol.,) 631 p.
- Thomas, N. O., and Jackson, N. M., Jr., 1981, Manual for leveling at gaging stations in North Carolina: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 81-1104, Raleigh, N. C., 36 p.

Glossary

ADP	Automatic data processing used to compute the discharge records for digital recorder stations
Discharge hydrograph	A semilogarithmic plot of daily mean discharges for a water year, used as a visual check of the continuity of computed discharges and a means of comparing discharges for different stations
Primary computation	The ADP process normally used for the first pass of streamflow data through the computer. The recorder tape, rating, shift-adjustment-distribution instructions, and datum corrections are input. A tentative daily discharge and hourly gage-height printout are output and a dis- charge hydrograph is optional.
Scalloping	An undesirable discharge-rating characteristic in which the straight-line segments of a logarithmic rating curve, when plotted using rectangular coordinates, billow upward be- tween nodes at the descriptor points. The corresponding rating table has erratic discharge differences per tenth foot of gage-height difference.
Shape curve	A previous rating curve, or one based on a special study, whose shape is similar to the rating curve being developed
Shift adjustment	An adjustment, usually varying with time and stage, applied to gage heights in order to com- pensate for a change in the rating shape or position
Shifting-control method	The systematic use of shift adjustments as a substitute for revised ratings
Station analysis	A narrative description, in a standard format, of the gaging-station equipment, its perform- ance, and the methods used to compute the discharge record
Update	The ADP process by which discharges from the primary computation are revised by using a different discharge rating, different shift adjustments, or substituted manually computed values to compile the final discharge record.
WATSTORE User's Guide	Volume 5 (record processing) and volume 1 (data files) of a set of instruction manuals regarding the format of data input to the ADP system used for discharge-record computation.